
COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC ELECTRONIC INFORMATION PACKAGE FOR  
COUNCIL (IN-PERSON) MEETING 

FRIDAY, FEBRUARY 24, 2023 – 8:30 A.M. – 1 P.M. 



RHPA

Duties and Obiects of Colleges

Dufy of College
z.l It is the duty of the College to work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a

matter of public urterest, that the people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of

qualified, iLitl"¿ and competent regulated health professionals' 2008' c' l8' s- l'

Objects of College
3. ( I ) The College has the following objects'

l. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the members in accordance

with the healttr profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions

Act, I991 and the regulations and by-,laws'

2. To.develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification lor persons to be issued

certificates o f registration.

3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and standards of practice to assure the

qualify of the practice of the profession'

4. 'I-o develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to

promoteãntinuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the members'

4.1 To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other Colleges, standards of

knowledgå, skill and judgment relating to the performance olcontrolled acts

"o-,ooriumong 
healih professions to enhance interprolessional collaboration, while

respecting the rinique character of individual health professions and their members'

5. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the members'

6- To develop, establish and rnaintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their

rights under this Code and the Regulated Heatth Professions Act, ] 991 '

T.Toadminister the health profession Act, this code and the Regulated Health

professions Act, lggl as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties

and exercise the other po\Ãiers that are imposed or conlened on the College'

g- To promote and enhance relations befween the College and its members, other

health profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the pubtic.

9. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges'

10. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability

of members to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in

technolory and other emerging issues-

I l. Any other objects retating to human health care that the Council considers

desirable. t9é1, c. 18, SJrte¿. 2, s.3 (l); 2007, c- 10, Sched' M, s' l8; 2009, c'26'

s. 2a (l l)-

Dufy
(2) In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serye and protect the public

interest. I991, c. 18, Sched. 2, s- 3 (2)'

.1



Version date: October 12, 2017 

 

 

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO 
MISSION, VISION, VALUES AND STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
MISSION 
 
The College of Chiropractors of Ontario regulates the profession in the public 
interest to assure ethical and competent chiropractic care. 
 
VISION 
 
Committed to Regulatory Excellence in the Public Interest in a Diverse 
Environment. 
 
VALUES 
 

• Integrity  
• Respect 
• Collaborative 
• Innovative 
• Transparent 
• Responsive 

 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 
 

 
1. Build public trust and confidence and promote understanding of the role of 

CCO amongst all stakeholders. 
 

2. Ensure the practice of members is safe, ethical, and patient-centered. 
 

3. Ensure standards and core competencies promote excellence of care while 
responding to emerging developments. 

 
4. Optimize the use of technology to facilitate regulatory functions and 

communications. 
 

5. Continue to meet CCO’s statutory mandate and resource priorities in a 
fiscally responsible manner. 
 

                                      Developed at the strategic planning session: September 2017  
 



CCO Gooe or CoruDUcr FoR CunneruT AND

Fonuen E¡-ecreD AND Puellc MeMeeRs oF
Cou n¡c r L AN D N o tt -G o u N c I L Colt¡ lvl ¡rrer M eM B E RS @Ð
Executive Committee
Approved by Gouncil: September 28,2012
Amended: February 23,2016, April 19, 20'16, September 15,2016
Re-Affirmed bv Council: November 29, 2018

Current and former elected and public members of Council and non-Council committee

members must, at all times, maintain high standards of integrity, honesty and loyalty
when discharging their College duties. They must act in the best interest of the College.

They shall:

l. be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Regulated Health Professions

Act, 1991 (RHPA),its regulations and the Health Professions Procedural Code,

the Chiropractic Act 1991, its regulations, and the by-laws and policies of the

College;

2. diligently take part in committee work and actively serve on committees as

elected and appointed by the Council;

3. regularly attend meetings on time and participate constructively in discussions;

4. offer opinions and express views on matters before the College, Council and

committee, when appropriate;

5. participate in all deliberations and communications in a respectful, courteous and

professional manner, recognizing the diverse background, skills and experience of
members on Council and committees;

6. uphold the decisions made by Council and committees, regardless of the level of
prior individual disagreement;

7. place the interests of the College, Council and committee above self-interests;

8. avoid and, where that is not possible, declare any appearance of or actual conflicts

of interestst;

9. refrain from including or referencing Council or committee positions held at the

College in any personal or business promotional materials, advertisements and

business cards;2

I There is a general assumption of real or perceived conflict unless confirmation of no conflict by the

Executive Committee and/or Council, which will be addressed promptly.
2 This section does not preclude the use ofprofessional biographies for professional involvement.



CCO Code of Conduct
November 29,2018

10. preserve conf,rdentiality of all information before Council or committee unless
disclosure has been authorized by Council or otherwise exempted under s. 36(1)
ofthe RHPA;

11. refrain from communicating to members, including other Council or committee
members, on statutory committees regarding registration, complaints, reports,
investigations, disciplinary or fitness to practise proceedings which coulã be
perceived as an attempt to influence a statutory committee or a breach of
confidentiality, unless he or she is a membcr of the panel or, where there is no
panel, of the statutory committee dealing with the matter;

12. rcfrain from communicating to members and stakeholdet' on behalf of CCO
including on social media, unless authorized by Councila;

13. respect the boundaries of staff whose role is not to report to or work for individual
Council or committee members; and

14. be respectful of others and not engage in behaviour that might reasonably be
perceived as verbal, physical or sexual abuse or harassment.

Potential Breaches of the Gode of Conduct

15. An elected or appointed member of Council or non-Council committee member
who becomes aware of any potential breach of this code of conduct should
immediately advise the President and Registrar, or if the potential breach involves
the President, advise the Vice President and Registrar; and,

16. Potential breaches will be addressed first through informal discussion with the
Council member(s) or non-Council committee member(s), and subsequently by
written communication expressing concerns and potential conseq.,"n"ir.

I, , Council member or non-Council committee member of the
College of Chiropractors of Ontario undertake to comply with the CCO Code of Conduct
for Current and Former Elected and Public Members of Council and Non-Council
Comrnittee Members, both during and follcrving rny term on CCo Council or a
committee

Signature Witness:

Date

3 Stakeholders include professional associations, societies, and other organizations related to the regulation,
education and practice of chiropractic.
a This does not preclude Council members from communicating about CCO, provided they are not
communicating on behalf of CCO.

2



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Rules of Order of the Council of the
Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario

Approved by Council: September 20,2014
Amended: June17,2020

In this Schedule, "Council Member" means a Member of the Council of the CCO.

Each agenda topic may be introduced briefly by the person or committee
representative raising it. Council Members may ask questions for clarification.
However, a Council Member shall make a motion and another Council Member
shall second the motion before it can be debated.

When any Council Member wishes to speak, they shall so indicate by raising
their hand. When speaking the Council Member shall address the presiding

officer and confine themselves to the matter under discussion.

Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the
presiding officer to provide information or answer specific questions about the
matter.

Observers at a Council meeting shall not speak to a matter that is under debate

A Council Member shall not speak again on the debate of a matter until every
other Council Member of Council who wishes to speak to it has been given an

opportunity to do so. An exception is that the person introducing the matter or a
staff person or consultant may answer questions about the matter. Council
Members shall not speak to a matter more than twice without the permission of
the presiding officer.

No Council Member may speak longer than five minutes upon any motion except
with the permission of the Council.

When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend
it, to postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council
meeting or to refer the motion to a committee.

A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only
one motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time.

When it appears to the presiding officer that the debate on a matter has
concluded, that Council has passed a motion to vote on the motion or that the
time allocated to the debate of the matter has concluded, the presiding officer
shall put the motion to a vote.

When a matter is being voted on, no Council Member shall enter or leave the
Council room, and no further debate is permitted.

I

10

11.



12.

Rules of Order of Council

No Council Member shall be present in the room, participate in a debate or vote
upon any motion in which they have a conflict of interest, and the vote of any
Council Member so interested shall be disallowed.

13. Any motion decided by the Council shall not be re-introduced during the same
session except by a two-thirds vote of the Council then present.

14 Whenever the presiding officer is of the opinion that a motion offered to the
Council is contrary to these rules or the by-laws, the presiding officer shall rule
the motion out of order and give reasons for doing so.

15 The presiding officer shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide
questions of order, subject to an appeal to the Council without debate.

16 The above rules may be relaxed by the presiding officer if it appears that greater
informality is beneficial in the particular circumstances unless the Council
requires strict adherence.

17 Council Members shall not discuss a matter with observers while it is being
debated.

18. Council Members shall turn off their electronic devices during Council meetings
and, except during a break in the meeting, shall not use their electronic devices.
Computers shall only be used during Council meetings to review materials
related to the matter under debate (e.9., electronic copies of background
documents) and to make personal notes of the debate. The presiding officer may
make reasonable exceptions (e.9., if a Council Member is awaiting an important
message on an urgent matter).

19. Council Members shall be silent while others are speaking

In all cases not provided for in these rules or the by-laws, the current edition of
Robert's Rules of Order shall be followed so far as they may be applicable and
consistent witlr these rules.

20

2



List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
as at November 17, 2022

Acronym Full Name

ACE Accessing Centre for Expertise, Dalla Lana School of Public Health, University of
Toronto

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution
AFC Alliance For Chiropractic (formerly CAC)
ASNFPO Accountins Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations

BDC Board of Directors of Chiropractic
ccA Canadian Chiropractic Association
ccBc Colleee of Chiropractors of British Columbia

CCEB Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board
ccEc Council on Chiropractic Education (Canada)

cccr Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative
cco Colleee of Chiropractors of Ontario
CCPA Canadian Chiropractic Protective Association

CCRF Canadian Chiropractic Research Foundation
Chiropractic Act Chiropractic Act, 1991

cMcc Canadian Memorial Chiropractic Collese

CMOH Chief Medical Officer of Health

cNo College of Nurses of Ontario
covtD-19 SARS - CoV- 2
Code Health P r ofess ions P r ocedur al Co de, Schedule 2 to the RHPA

coNo of of Ontario

CPGs Clinical Fractice Guidelines
CPMF Colleee Performance Measurement Framework

CPSO Colleee of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

D'Youville D'Youville Colleee - Chiropractic Program
DAC Desierated Assessment Centre

DEI Diversitv. Eouitv and Inclusion
FCC Federation of Canadian Chiropractic
FCCOS(C) Fellow of the of
FCCR(C) Fellow of the of
FCCPOR(C) Fellow of the Canadian Chiropractic College of Physical and Occupational

Rehabilitation (Canada)

FCCS(C) Fellow of the of Sciences

FRCCSS(C) Fellow of the Royal College of Chiropractic Sports Sciences

FCLB Federation of Chiropractic Licensing Boards

FOt Freedom of Information
Grc Guaranteed Invesfrnent Certificate
HARP Healins Arts Radiation Protection Act, 1990

HIA Heqlth Insurance Act, 1990

HPARB Health Professions Appeal and Review Board

HPRAC Health Professions Resulatory Advisory Council

HPRO Health Profession Regulators of Ontario

rcRc Inquiries. Complaints and Reports Committee

KPI Key Performance Indicators
LSO Law Socie8 of Ontario
MESPO Model for the Etaluation of Scopes of Practice in Ontmio

MOH Ministrv of Health
MTCU Ministrv of Traihine, Colleges and Universities

NBCE National Board of Chiropractic Examiners

NHSU National Universitv of Health Sciences - Chiropractic Proglam

NWG Nominations Working Group
NYCC New York Chiropractic Collese



2

Acronym FullName

ocA Ontario Chiropractic Association
ODP Ottice ljevelopment Proiect
oFc Office of the Faimess Commissioner
OHIP Ontario Health Insurance Plan
OHPR Ontario Health Professions Regulators
OHR OntarioHealthRe gulators.ca (HPRO's nublic-focused website)
OHRC Ontario Human Riehts Commission
PHIPA Personal Health Information Protection Act. 2004
PPA Peer and Practice Assessment
PIPEDA Personal Informqtion and Protection of Electronic Documents Act
PSA Professional Standards Authoritv for Health and Social Care (U.K.)
PVO Prosecutorial Viabilitv Opinion
QA Oualitv Assurance
RFP Request for Proposal
RHPA Regulated Health Professions Act, I99I
SCERP Specified Continuine Education or Remediation Prosram
SOAR Society of Ontario Adiudicators and Resulators
SPPA Statutorv Powers Procedural Act. 1990
SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses" Opporhrnities. Threats
TCL Terms. Conditions and Limitations
UOIT Universi8 of Ontario Institute of Technoloey
UQTR Universitd du Oudbec d Trois-Rividres
WHO World Health Organization
WSIB Workolace Safetv and Insurance Board



 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA (Public) 
 

COUNCIL MEETING  
Council Photo Day 

 
Friday, February 24, 2023 (8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.) 1  

 
In Person for CCO Council 2 3 

 
Attendees 

 
Council members  

Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar 
Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel 

Ms Beth Ann Kenny, Recording Secretary  
Mr. Robert MacKay, Facilitator 4 

 
 

AGENDA (Public) 5  
 

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

 CALL TO ORDER 7 AND LAND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  8 

Welcome Mizel/ 
Gravelle 

High 

 
1 Subject to Council’s direction.  
2 Mr. Scott Stewart attending virtually. Please advise Rose Bustria if you will be attending virtually. 
3 Guests to attend virtually until further notice (please advise Rose Bustria if you would like to attend). 
4  To facilitate the President’s chairing of this meeting (at the President’s request and as directed by the 
Executive). 
5 If you would like the complete background documentation relating to any item on the agenda, please speak 
to Dr. Mizel, President and Ms Willson (information may be subject to confidentiality provisions). 
6 Subject to Council’s direction.  
7 Council members to be familiar with and comply with the rules of order. If required, Dr. Mizel, President, to 
appoint a parliamentarian.  
 
8 Land acknowledgment 

Let us acknowledge that in our meeting space today, we gather on the Treaty Lands and Territory of the 
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation as well as the traditional territory of the Haudenosaunee and the 
Huron-Wendat peoples.  We recognize that we have a responsibility to work towards meaningful reconciliation 
between Indigenous and non-Indigenous peoples and through this land acknowledgement, we are honoring 
the land, Indigenous peoples, and deepening our understanding of truth. 

 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

2 
 

2 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

     
 1. Consent Agenda Approve Council  High 
     

10 1.1 Discipline Committee Report     
 CCO v Dr. Brian Moore     

11 1.1.1 Decision and Reasons on Recusal 
  Motion by Dr. Moore (received 
  November 15, 2022) 

FYI   

22 1.1.2 Endorsement of Mr. Justice H.K. 
  O’Connell dated December 9, 
  2022 dismissing motion for  
  interlocutory injunction by Dr. 
  Moore 

   

23 1.2  Fitness to Practise Committee 
 Report  

   

24 1.3  Inquiries, Complaints, and 
 Reports Committee (ICRC) 
 Report  

   

 Health Professions Appeal and Review 
Board (HPARB) Decisions  

   

25 1.3.1  Terry and Jessica Lemaire and 
  Wade Rafaez (received  
  November 28, 2022) (ICRC  
  decision returned) 

   

44 1.3.2   Martin Gurvey and Ibrahim  
  Asadullah (received December 6, 
  2022) (ICRC decision upheld 
  primarily) 

   

64 1.3.3  Shannel Pearson and Chris  
  Triantafilou (received January 31, 
  2023) (ICRC decision upheld) 

   

82 1.3.4  Shannel Pearson and Guy  
  Pelletier (received January 31, 
  2023) (ICRC decision upheld) 

   

101 1.4 Advertising Committee Report      
     
 2. Main Agenda  Adopt Council High 

     
 2.1 Conflict of Interest  Review/ 

Declare 
any real 
or 

Council High 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

3 
 

3 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

perceived 
conflicts 
of 
interest 
as agenda 
item 
reached 9 

 3. Adoption of Minutes 10     
     
 4. Committee Reports     

190 4.1 Executive Committee Report  
 
 

Report/ 
Approve 
Recom-
menda-
tions 

Mizel/ 
Council 
 
 
 

High 

     
 Move in Camera 11    
     
 Move Out of Camera and Ratify 

Decisions made In Camera 
   

     
 College Performance Measurement 

Framework (CPMF) 12  
Status 
Update 

Friedman Medium 

399 4.1.30 Thank you letter dated January 
  11, 2023 to Ms Willson from Dr. 
  Karima Velji re: CPMF Working 
  group 

FYI   

400 4.1.31  CCO’s CPMF Action Plan  
  approved June 22, 2022 (version 
  date October 11, 2022) 

FYI   

407 4.1.32 Key Performance Indicators dated 
  November 21, 2021 

FYI   

408 4.1.33  DEI Plan (approved April 20, 
  2022)  

FYI   

 
9 Standing conflicts of interest do not need to be declared at every meeting. 
10 Only members present at the meeting should approve the minutes. Once Council minutes are approved, 
they are posted on CCO’s website with the relevant Council information package.  
11 Council may go in camera to discuss items identified in Ss. 7 (2) of the Code, such as financial matters and 
legal advice.  
12 CCO’s second CPMF Report was submitted on March 31, 2022 and is available on CCO’s website. Mr. 
Friedman will prepare new report for the Executive Committee’s review at the March 24, 2023 meeting 
(report to be filed March 31, 2023). 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

4 
 

4 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

416 4.1.34  The Nursing and Midwifery  
  Council edi objectives, priorities 
  and actions 2022 - 2025 

Review 
for best 
practices 

Council/ 
Committ-
ees 

Medium 

442 4.1.35 Communication exchange dated 
  December 2022 between Ministry 
  and HPRO re: CPMF 13 

Review Council Medium 

447 4.1.36 Formal launch of the 3rd iteration 
  of the  CPMF dated January 12, 
  2023 including reporting tool 

Review 
for Com-
mendable 
Practices 

Council Medium 

 Other Ministry Related Matters 14 Primarily 
FYI  

  

585 4.1.37 News Release dated January 16, 
  2023 entitled “Ontario Reducing 
  Wait Times for Surgeries and 
  Procedures” 

   

592 4.1.38 Sample Media re: private clinics 
  announcement 

   

595 4.1.39 News Release dated February 2, 
  2023 entitled “Your Health: A 
  Plan for Connected and  
  Convenient Care” including  
  report 

   

 Ministry of Health of British Columbia    
659 4.1.40 Announcement dated October 

  2022 entitled “Patients the focus 
  of new  health legislation” 

   

662 4.1.41 Sample Media re: BC   
  announcement 

   

     
 Strategic Planning    
 Post Pandemic Planning     

686 4.1.43 COVID-19 Protocols for In- 
  Person/Hybrid Council and  
  Committee Meetings (amended 
  November 24, 2022) 15 

FYI   

 Elections Verbal 
Report 

Willson High 

 
13 “Soft Launch” of CPMF distributed for feedback on October 18, 2022. 
14 Information reflects health regulatory context. 
15 Guests to be attending council meetings virtually pending safety and security audit and further 
recommendations. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

5 
 

5 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

687 4.1.44  Distribution of Election  
  Documents January 26, 2023 

   

713 4.1.45  Information re: Election Review 
  Sub-Committee including  
  election checklists 

Verbal 
Report 

Friedman Medium 

 Communications    
722 4.1.47  Notation re: communications to 

  CCO 
FYI   

     
 Other Chiropractic/Health Related 

Stakeholders 
Primarily 
FYI 
(subject to 
questions) 

Council Medium 

 Ontario Chiropractic Association (OCA)    
785 4.1.51 E-mail dated November 24, 

 2022 re: Advocacy Day Documents 
   

798 4.1.52 Correspondence dated November 
  24, 2022, re: University of  
  Guelph Partnership 

   

 Canadian Chiropractic Examining Board 
(CCEB) 

   

     
843 4.2 Patient Relations Committee Report Report/ 

Approve 
Recomm-
endations 

Ausbeth-
Ajagu 

High 

855 4.2.2  S-014: Prohibition of a Sexual 
  Relationship with a Patient  
  (current) 

FYI   

  
 
 
 
 

   

865 4.3 Quality Assurance Committee Report Report/ 
Approve 
Recomm-
endations 

Groulx High 

874 4.3.2  G-014: Delegation, Assignment  
  and Referral of Care (current) 

FYI   

882 4.3.4  Agenda and Photo of Peer and 
  Practice Assessment Training 
  Workshop –   January 28, 

FYI   



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

6 
 

6 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

  2023 
     

887 4.4 Registration Committee Report Report 
 

De 
Domenico
/ 
Willson/ 
Friedman 

High 

889 4.4.1 Memo dated December 14, 2022 
  re: Registration Regulations from 
  Dr. Karima Velji to Registrars 
  and Executive Directors 

Review   

919 4.4.4  P – 058: Policy on Considering 
  Applications for Registration  
  During the COVID-19 Pandemic 

FYI   

928 4.4.5 News Release dated January 19, 
  2023 entitled “New “As of Right” 
  Rules a First in Canada to Attract 
  More Health Care Workers to 
  Ontario” and input/questions 
 from HPRO 
 

FYI   

936 4.4.6 Notification dated November 24, 
  2022 re: Articles – OSCE  
  cancellation - consequences 

FYI   

952 4.4.7  OFC Newsletter dated January 
  2023 

FYI   

     
 5. New Business       
 Animal Chiropractic Consider 

regulatory 
role and 
possible 
participa-
tion in 
consulta-
tion 

Council Medium 

959 5.1 Ontario Consultation: Veterinarians 
 Act of Ontario 

Review Council Medium 

966 5.2 Various communications from the 
 Ontario Chiropractic Association 
 (September 7, 2022, December 23, 
 2022, January 19, 2022) 

Review Council Medium 

971 5.3 S-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals FYI   



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

7 
 

7 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

Page 
No. 

ITEM Action 
Required 

Action By Priority 
Level 6 

975 5.4 By-law 17: Public Register FYI   
981 5.5 Information asked on CCO 

 Registration Renewal (question 4 – 
 animal chiropractic) 

FYI   

982 5.6 Summary of Public Register 
 Inclusion of chiropractic Care of 
 Animals and Other Techniques and 
 Modalities by  
 Canadian Chiropractic Regulators 
 and Selected Ontario Health 
 Regulators 

Verbal 
Report 

Friedman Medium 

1032 5.7 Extract from Veterinarians Act re: 
 Register 

FYI   

     
 6. FYI   FYI    
     

1038 College of Pharmacists of Ontario    
 6.1 Various media re: expanded scope for 

 pharmacists 
   

 College of Psychologists of Ontario    
1047 6.2 Correspondence dated October 24, 

 2022 re: ABA & Dual Registration 
 from Dr. Rick Morris 

   

1048 6.3 Chiropractic & Manual Therapies 
 (2023) 31:4 “A two-year follow-up: 
 Twitter activity regarding 
 misinformation about spinal 
 manipulation, chiropractic care and 
 boosting immunity during the 
 COVIDD-19 pandemic” 

   

1060 6.4 Grey Areas (November 2022 and 
 January 2023)  

   

1067 6.5 Council Members Terms (dated  
 April 20, 2022) 

   

     
     
 DATE AND TIME OF MEETINGS 16    
     
 ADJOURNMENT     
     

 
 

16 Please mark your calendar and advise Rose Bustria ASAP if you are unable to attend any meetings. 



Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

8 
 

8 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All Executive Committee and Council meetings are in person and are scheduled from 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. 
unless otherwise noted.  
 
Executive Committee Meeting Dates to December 2023 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 

2023 Friday, March 24 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Wednesday, May 17 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, August 11 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Friday, October 20 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 

Council Meeting Dates to December 2023 
 

Year Date Time Event Location 

2023 Friday, February 24 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m.  Meeting CCO 

 Wednesday, April 19 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Thursday, April 20 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (Elections) CCO 

 Tuesday, June 20 6:00 p.m. Presidents’ Dinner 17  TBD 

 Wednesday, June 21 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting CCO 

 Wednesday, June 21 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. AGM TBD 

 Friday, September 8 1:00 p.m. – 4:30 p.m. Meeting White Oaks Resort and Spa 18 

 Saturday, September 9 8:30 a.m. – 4:30 p.m. Strategic 
Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

White Oaks 

 
17 For current and former BDC Chairs and CCO Presidents. 
18 White Oaks Resort and Spa: 253 Taylor Rd, Niagara-on-the-Lake, Ontario 
www.whiteoaksresort.com 
 
 

http://www.whiteoaksresort.com/


Co and StrategiFc Planning/Tuncil Agenda – Thursday, November 28, 2019   

9 
 

9 Council Meeting Agenda (Public): February 24, 2023 (in person for Council members)                                                                                                   

Year Date Time Event Location 
 Sunday, September 10 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 p.m. Strategic 

Planning/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

White Oaks 

 Thursday, November 23 8:30 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. Meeting (budget) CCO 

 Friday, November 24 8:30 a.m. – 11:30 a.m. Training/Topic 
Specific Meeting 

CCO 

 Friday, November 24 6:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. Holiday Party TBD 

 

 

 

 
 

 



ITEM 1.1 Generated Internally

College of Chiropractors of Ontario
Discipline Gommiftee Report to Gouncil
February 24,2023

10

Committee
Members:

Mr. Shawn Southern, Chair
Dr. Dennis Mizel
Mr. Scott Stewart
Dr. Julia Viscomi
Mr. Robert Mackay, Council Appointed member
Dr. Daniela Arciero, non-Council member
Dr. Murray Townsend, non-Council member
Dr. Matt Tribe, non-Council member

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel

Committee Mandate

To adjudicate specified allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence
referred to the committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

To review applications for reinstatement following a discipline hearing.

Since the last report to Council, there have been no meetings of the committee, however,
there has been hearing dates with respect to Dr. Brian Moore as follows: December 12-

16, December 19-20,2022, January 25-26,2023, and continuing on February 7,13,14,
2023.

The Health Profession Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) held a Discipline Orientation on
October 14,2022 (Basic) and November 4,2022 (Advanced). 2023 dates have not been

announced. Just a reminder that according to our bylaws, every member of Council may
be called upon to serve on a discipline panel to ensure the timely adjudication of
discipline referrals. If any Council members are interested in the above training and have

not attended the program previously, please contact Ms Rose Bustria. The training is
offered three times per year.

I would like to thank the members of the discipline committee for their time and

commitment. Also, appreciation goes to all Council members who have given their time
and expertise to serve on a panel or panels. Thank you to Mr. Robert MacKay, Council
appointed member, for addressing urgent discipline matters in a timely manner. The
Discipline Committee continues to meet its mandate while conducting hearings as

required to ensure compliance with CCO's public interest mandate.

Respectfully Submitted,

Mr. Shawn Southern,
Chair

a

a



trEM 1.1.1 fi-
DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE OF THE COLLEGE

OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO

PANEL: Mr. Robert MacKay (Chair) Council Appointed Member

BETWEEN: Counsel

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS

11
L,Lt\,rl-dl

Nor,,. p,?oc)-

OF ONTARIO

-and-

OR. BRIAN MOORE
(Registration #1542)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

}
)

)

)

Ms. Karen Jones for the College
of Chiropractors of Ontario

Mr. James Kitchen
for Dr, Moore

Mr. Colin Stevenson
lndependent Legal Counsel

Heard. November 4,2Q22

DECISION AND REASONS ON RECUSAL MOTION EY DR" MOORE

lntroduction

This recusal motion is brought in anticipation of a hearing scheduled for December 12

through 2A,2A22 before a 5-person panel of the Discipline Committee to consider
allegations that Dr. Moore (the "Member") engaged in professional misconduct. This
motion is brought by the Member to disqualifu Mr Robert MacKay {"Mr. MacKay") from
chairing or sitting on that hearing panel.



12

Mr. Kitchen, on behalf of tlre Menrber, raises four issues tllat he says tlernurrslraie the
lack of any legislative basis for Mr. MacKay having been properly appointed to the
Discipline Cornmittee. lf he was not properly appointed the Member argues Mr
MacKay cannot sit on the hearing panel. Mr. Kitchen nrakes a fifth argument in supporl
of recusal. which is based on alleged reasonable apprehension of bias on the part of
Mr. MacKay.

Summary of Submissions of the Member

Was Mr. MacKay properly appointed to the Discipline Committee?

Bv-law 18

1. The Mernber submitted that College By-law 18 is the only way to appoint a non-
member (i.e., someone who is not a chiropractor) and who is not a public
appointee (i e.. by the Provincial Government) to a College committee and that
By-law 1B was not in effect in the Fall of 2021 iNovember 25,2A21) when Mr.
MacKay was purportedly appointed by CCO Council The Member relies on the
header of By-law 18 which indicates rt "came rnto effect February 25.2A22".r The
Member says any purported appointment prior to February ?5,2022 was
therefore unlawful.

The Member also filed a CCO Committee conrposition chart (Exhibit 2. tab J at
p.4'13 of the record) which shows that the appointment of Mr MacKay was
subsequently confirmed or approved as of April 2A, 2022, i.e., after By-law 18
was certainly in effect. However. the Member argued the defective nature of the
original appcrntrnent in combination with what he says was an ineffective
confirmation on April 2a ar 71.2a22 taints the continued membership of Mr.
MacKay on the Dtscipline Commrttee.

The Member also argued that on November 25,TAU, i.e , at the time of the
purpcrted appointment of Mr MacKay a$ a non-chiropractic discipline committee
member, Mr. MacKay was still a public (i.e,, gCIvernment appointed) member of
Councii and already on the Discipline Comnrittee and he continr:ed in that rcle for
another 3 days. Mr Kitchen argues that the November 25,7021, appointment to
the Discipline Committee pursuant to the by-law amendment (i e., By-law 18)
cauld not take effect because he could not be appointed by Council to the
Discipline Comnritlee at a time when he was still on that very commiftee.

1 Exhtbtt 2, Motion Record of the Member page 19

Page 2 ol 11



13

DisqualificatiaA

2. The Member points to By-law 18.1 (b) and (e) which he says must be read in

conjunction with By-law 12: Appointment of Non-Council Members and By-lawl't:
Committee Composition. By-law 18.1(b) provides that an individual (non-
member) is eligible for appointment if they have not been disqualified from
serving on Council or a comrnittee within the last six years.2 By-law 18.1(ei
provides that a non-member is eligible for appointment by Council if they would
not be disquatified on the day of appointmenl if they were a member.3 Both these
provisions as well as the other three subparagraphs of By-law 18.1 must be met
in order for a non-member to be eligible for appointmeni.

The Member then relies on By-law 12.1A which sets out a list of reasons why
Council shall dr'squalify a member appointed to a committee. This is relevanl
because of the terms of By-law 18.1(e).

He also relies on By-law 12.9 which sets out the grounds for eligibility of
members, as opposed to non-members who are covered by By-law 18 to be on
committees, Essentially the Member argues that Mr. MacKay was not eligible to
be appointed because he contravened the term limits in By-law 12.7 and 12.8
which apply to members appointed to committees or because, if he had been a

member, Mr. MacKay would have been disqualified under 3y-law 12lA ihaving
previously been on another heatth profession committee)" ln summary Mr.
Kitchen argued:

a. Ppdjajpation on a Committee of Another Health Prafession

I\Ir. MacKay had previously been on a committee of another health profession,
which disqualifies him under By-law 12.10 th).4

b. Term Limits

Mr. MacKay served I consecutive years on CCO committees from 2006 to 2A14,
and an appointment to the CCO discipline committee now is contrary to By-law
177 and 12.8.5

Cqmmittee Structltre

3. Mr. Kitchen subrnits that ai the time of CCO Council's appointment(s) of M;.
MacKay there were already thrde members of CCO (chiropractors) on the
Disciptine Committee who were not members of Council. lf Mr. MacKay were a

member of CCO he would be the fourth non-Council member of the Discipline

2 By-law 18.1(b)
3 By-law 18.1(e)
a Exhibit 1, Moore Factum, paragraph 12.
5 Exhibit 1. Moore Factum, paragraphs 13 and '14.

Page3of11



14
Committee which the Member argues would be contrary to By-law 11.5 {b}
because Mr. MacKay is not himself a member of the Cor:ncil.5

S u b - D e tsgat i q n o f*Aslhgtly

4. The Member argues that no-one can be validly appointed by the CCO Council to
be a non-chiropractic member of a College Committee. He says that there are
only two valid categories of candidate for appointment to a Coltege Committee.
One would be someone who has been appointed by the Provincial Government
as a public member, who are accountable to the public interesl and the
Government. The second category would be someone who rs a chiropractor and
has been validly elected as a professional rnernber of Council The latter, the
[\/lamhor c.rrc \^rnr rld ho fircl lnrl fnrcrmncl rnnnr rnlrhlo in thoir nrnfoccinn:leut r, vvvu,

obiigations and to the profession.

The Member objects to anyone other than someone appointed from one of those
two categories sitting on a panelthat hears the allegations in his case ? ln the
view of the Member, Mr. "MacKay is not necegsarily accountable to any of
these". The subnrission of Mr. Kitchen was that Council's creation of and acting
on By-law 18 arnounts to what he initially referred to as Councilfettering its
discretion and later as an improper sub-delegation of rts authority.

Reasonable Apprehension of Bias

5. Mr. Kitchen submitted that Mr. MacKay had created a reasonable apprehension
of bias in two respecls Frrst, after granting an adjournment request of Dr. Moore
on September 12. 202?, he initially ordered costs against Dr Moore and invited
submrssions from the parties on the amount of costs. ln the current motion the
Member objects to that earlier costs'decision based on section 53.1 of the
Health Prafessions Procedural Code (which was not raised on September 12
2422). This section requrres a finding of professional misconduct before ordering
costs against a rnember. Mr Kitchen says: "lt must be presumed Mr. MacKay
was aware of section 53.1 of the code. . . "8

Secondly, in suppod of his argument that there is a reasonable apprehension of
bias the Member relied on a three-day extension granted to the College by Mr
MacKay for the filing of reply nrotion materials. He argues that this extension
rmproperly favoured the College over the Member.

4 Exhibrt i Moore Facturn. paragruph 0
7 Exhibit 1 Mocre Factum, paragraph 25
a Exhib,it 1 Moore Factum, paragrarh 21

Page 4 af 11



15

Dr. Moore submitted that those two acts amount to "cogent evidence" that rebut
the presumption of impafiiality of Mr MacKay.

Costs

Finally. Mr. Kitchen sought an order that no costs be awarded against the Member on
this motion because it was neces$ary as the College breached its by-laws. ln oral
submissions Mr Kitchen sought an award of costs against the College because the
College by-laws are confusing and unduly complicated.

Summary of Submissions of the College

Was Mr. MacKay properly appointed to the Discipline Gommittee?

Bv-law 18

Ms. Jones on behalf of the College submitted that By-law 18 was effective when it was
approved on November 25, 2021 and she points to the "CCO ln Camera Council
Meeting Minutes"E of that date which indicate By-law 18 was adopted that day and then
acled on by appointing Mr. MacKay to the Discipline Committee. (l do note that this
document also says, approved-February 25,2022), further Ms. Jones asserts the
validity or invalidity of this initial appointment does not matter because Mr. MacKay was
again appointed by Council to the Discipline Committee on April X,2A22. {Exhibit 3.
p 18) (l note that the latter document says, approved-June 22.2A24 Ms. Jones says
the reference to "approved" on both occasions is a reference to the subsequent
approval of the mlnutes.

DtsqUEiirtgitt'on

It was Ms. Jones submission, on behalf of the College that there is no evidence that Mr
MacKay was ever disqualifiedt0 by Council She says one must distinguish between the
drsqualification grounds rn By-law 1?.rc which are relevant by virtue of By-law 18 1{e)
and the eligibility standards for chiropractors in By-law 12.9 which are not relevant.

a. Pafticipatiqn qn A Qo{nmitteq af Anether AgAfth Profession

The College submitted that Mr. MacKay never concurrently sat on a CCO comrnittee
and a committee of another health profession regulatory body 11 Therefore By-law
12 10(h) does not apply

3 Exhrbit 2, CCO Responding Motion Record. page 13
1r'Exhibit 3, CCO Factum and Authorities, paragraph 21
1?Exhibit 3, CCO Factum aneJ Autharities, paragraphs23 24. and25

Page 5 of 11



16
b, Iemltntls

It was the submission of the College that subsection 5{2) of the Code allows for more
than nine years on committees. provided they are not consecutrve 12 The College adds
that there is nothing in the by-laws that limits terms as long as they are not more then
nrne consecutive years The College notes that because Mr. MacKay is not a
chiropractor By-laws 12.7 and 12.8 are not relevant because they don't dealwith
disqualification issues (relevant because of tsy-law 18.1 ibi and (e)) although they do
dealwith term limits for a non-council rnenber (chiropractor).

Cammittee Sfnrcfurg

lVls Jones submitted that the Member fails to consider By-law 11.1a, which all*ws for
Councrl to appornt "one or more" Non-Chiropractic Commrttee Members to the
Discipline Comrnittee despite any other provision of By-law "11 13 Thus. it is argued. By-
law 1'1.14 expressly permits this appointment even though there are 3 non-council
appointed chiropractors on the Discipline Committee.

$ tt b Q e leq q! i o fl slf Atttb q rity

Ms. Jones, on behalf of the College, submitted that s. 94 of the Code gives Council the
authori$ to make by-laws and that subsections ihZ) and (h3) provides authority for
Cauncil to pass by-laws with respect to the composition of commitlees This. she says,
is express stalutory authority for Council to pass By-law 18 Furtherr-nore, the College
ensured accountability by means of By-law 18.2 which gives Council the authority to
remove Non-Chiropractic Committee members without cause Therefore, the making of,
and use of, By-law 18 was proper and done pursuant to the express powers given to
Council.

Reasonable Apprehension of Bias

Ms. Jones submitted that a reasonable per$on would not accept the submission of the
Member that there was a reasonable apprehension of bias on the part of Mr. MacKay
because he initially made an order to pay costs on a prior nrotron which the Menrber
now submits was contrary to section 53 1 of the Code. Ms. Jones noted that Mr.
MacKay had asked his independent legal counsel for advice before making that order
and was told he could order costs. After subsequently recetving written submissrons on
ccsts from the parties, Mr MacKay determined the issue of costs should be left to the

12 Fxhibit 3, CCO Factum and Authorities paragraphs 1g and 22f Ixhibil 3 CCO Factr"im and Authorities paragraphs I and 10

Page6of11



17

conclusion of the hearing on the merits. The College subrnitted that thts demonstrated
Mr. MacKay wa$ open to persuasion on the presentation of new facts or new

arguments. lt demonstrated an open mind, not the possibility of bias.

On the second point of the Member in support of his appearance of bias argirnrent, the

College submitted that irrespective of whether Mr. MacKay had granted a three-day or a

one-day extension for filing motion material for this rnotion, at the time no date had been

set to hear the motion and this short extension has no effect on Dr. Moore at all. Again.

it was argued, this provided no reasonable basis for establishing a reasonable
apprehension of bias.

Decision and Reasons

Heaving heard the parties'oral submissrcns, sought and received advice from

independent legal counsel. reviewed the written subnrisstons, the relevant by-laws, the

Code, and the other documents referred to by the parties. I make the following findings

and draw the conclusions which follow.

. By-law 18 was approved and came into etfect on November 25, 2021.

. Mr. MacKay has never been disqualified from serving on Council or a Committee

(By-law 18 1(b))

r At the tirne of both appointments of Mr MacKay (November 2A21 and April

?A22). there was no reason to suggest he would have been disquatified tf he

were a member (By-law 18.1(e))

,. Mr. MacKay never concurrently served on CCO Council or a committee

while on another health regulatory committee (By-law 12.10{h))

i..: At the time of both apporntments (November 2021 and April 2022) more

than three years had passed since Mr MacKay had served nine

consecutive years on CCO committees (By-iaw 12 8)

r The limit on the number of non-council members on the Discipline

Committee set out in By-law 11.5(b) does not apply to the appointment of

Mr. MacKay in these circumstances by virtue of By-law 11.14.

r At the September 12, 2A22. hearing of the adjournment motion of the Member, at

the point where costs were discussed, neither of the parties nor independent

Page 7 af 11



18

a

legal counsel mentioned section 53.1 of the Code for Mr. MacKay to consrder.

lndeed. counsel for the College did not make any submissions at that time about

costs. ln the cour$e of this motion counsel for the College has submitted that Mr.

MacKay could award costs on motions by virtue of s. 16. 1(1 ) and {2) of the

Statutary Powers Pracedure Ac{. As of this date the issue of jurisdrction to award

ccsts on such a motion has neither been fully argued nor finally decided.

The issue is moot at this juncture because of the subsequent decision of Mr

MacKay to leave ihe costs of the adjournnrent motion to be dealt with by the

panel after a decision on the nrerits of the aliegations.

ln racnani n{ }l-ra mnlinn malarinl nf tho [\/lamhor rrrhinh laA tn lho Cnliona'crrl ruoyuvt vr (rrv rrtvLrurl rttqtuttqr v' lrrv rvrurrruvr ! vvr

request for extra time to respond, I note there were some differences between

the two versions filed.

The change rn the motion submission dates for the College was an extension of

3 nonbusiness days {it was the Thanksgiving weekend} and zero business days

Was Mr. MacKay properly appointed to the Discipline Committee?

?y4aw !9.

When the CCO Cor"rncil approved the amendment to the by-lawsla on November 25,
2021 and specifically By-law 18 "to permit Council to appoint non-council members and
non-registrants to serve on CCO committees" and as their next action appointed Mr.
MacKay to the Discipline Commrttee, I frnd that was sufficient to bring By-law 1B intc
force with immediate effect. By-law 18.1 is also clear in that eligibility is to be
determined "on the date of the appointment".

Notwithstanding that. an "effective date" was later added to the header of By,law 18,
that is not determinative. The Council was acting in good faith under their authority to
enact By-law 18 when it did so on November 25, 2821 The heading suggesting that the
by-law did not come into effect until February 2A22 is not part of the by-law and nc-one
has identified any other by-law or provisron which would support the statement tltat By-
law 18 was oniy effective in February 2022.

ln any event, Mr. MacKay was appointed again in April 2022. The issues surrcunding
the validity of the November 2A21 appointment (both the issue of the effective date or

1{ November 25 2O21

Page I of 11



19

the overlap by three days of his prior public appointment with the November 2421
appointment) do not rmpact the validity of the April 2422 appointment

At the November 25,2A21 Council meeting a motion was passed appointing Mr.

MacKay to the Drscipline Comnrittee until the terms of all the members of the
committees'expire in April 2A22.lt can be inferred that Council was aware the prior

term of Mr. MacKay on Councilwas ending on November ?7, 2021 and that he was
currently on the Discipline Committee. There are no rules that prohibit this nor was there
any evrdence that this overlap of 3 days created a failed or unlawful appointment.

Qisslteli0sefipr

18 1(b) sets out a condition of eligibility: "The individual has not been disqualified from
serving on Council or a conrmittee within the six years rmmediately preceding the
appointment" Mr. MacKay has never been disquatified This provision is not applicable

18 1(e) sets out a separate condition of eligibility. "The individual would not be

disqualified {rom serving as a Non-Council Member if the rndividual were a Member".

By-law 12 10 specifies where Council can disqualify its members. On the date of the

appointnrents and ir"rdeed to thrs date Mr MacKay would not be disqualified even if he

were a member. This provision is not applicable.

Csmmiftee Structurp

By-law 12.2 requires the CCO Council to appoint members to committees as prescribed
by By-Law 11. As pointed out by Mr. Kitchen, By-law 11.5(b) limits the number of non-
Councrl CCO nrernbers to 3 on the Discipline Committee, This rule does not prevent
Council from appointing Mr. MacKay because of By-faw 11.14 By-law 11.14 allows
Council to appoint one or more non-Chiropractic committee members to the Drscipline
Comnrittee notwithstanding earlier provisions in By-law 11.

Sub Deleqatian af Autharilv

On review of the relevant sections of the Code namely ss 10(2), 94 {h2) and 94 (h 3) I

find the Council was not sub delegating its authority when it made and acted on By-law
1B lt was acting pursuant to its express statutory authority The Member's argument in

this regard has no merit.

Reasonable Apprehension of Bias

The parties were rn agreement that the threshold for determining reasonable
apprehension of bias is a high one and that mere suspicion is not enough

Page I of '11



20
Administrative decrsion-makers are presumed to be impartial The mover has the
burden of establishing a reasonable apprehension of bias

The Member acknowledged that the test rs whether an adjudicator has an open mind, is

witling to listen, and could be swayed by reasonable evidence and argument as
opposed to being resistant to persuasion, having a closed mind, or having pre-judged
the issues. The Member has not met this test.

The first pcint of the Member {the initial costs' award) used to demonstrate a reasonable
apprehension of bras is based on a false assumptron. Mr MacKay was not aware that a

finding against the Member on the merits was needed before making an order on costs,
if indeed that is the case. Therefore. it does not demonstrate pre-judging of the
Member. No reasonable person wculd think there was bias where the costs issue has

not yet been properly argued and where the issue is now moot given Mr. MacKay
ultimately did not award costs against the Member and has left the costs question to the
full panel after a decision on the merits.

The Member has asked for costs of this motian and he did not argue the jurisdicttonal

lssues on this motion either.

The second point of the Member is that a reasonable apprehension of bras arises
because Mr. MacKay gave an extension of the time for the College to file responding
motion materials The fact is that after filing his Factum and Reference to Authonties on

trme, about 5 days later he refiledl5 with some changes, he said to hyperlinks {on page
5). On a quick review. page 3 of the first Factum ends with paragraph 1 1, while page 3

of the second fiilng ends with paragraph 12 Mr. MacKay decided, that at the very least
the College should have some time to review the docurnent for changes The extension
was minor, from end of day Friday October 7, to end of day Monday October 10. which
was a holiday. The Member provided no clear explanation of how this might have
significantly helped the College or harmed the Member. A minor indulgence granted to
one party does not provide a basis for,a reasonable person to allege bias.

The evidence offered by the Member to support a claim of reasonable apprehension of
bias is flawed: it is neither sLrbstantial nor reasonable. The grounds submitted by the

15 Exhibit 1

Page 10 of 1 1



21

Member are not logical or convincing. The burden of proof for reasonable apprehension
of bias has not been met.

Qecisio.n

The motion of the Member is dismissed

The issue of costs is reserved to the panel dealing with the merits

f@
Mr. Robert MacKay, Chair Date: November 15,2422

Page 11 of 11



22|TEM 1.1.2

CITATION: Moore v. College of Chiropractor of Ontario,2022 ONSC 6981

COURT FILE NO.: DC-22-00001 343-00JR
DATE:20221209

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE . ONTARIO

RE: DR. BRIAN MOORE, Applicant

AND:

COLLEGE OF CHIROPRACTORS OF ONTARIO, Respondent

BEFORE: H.K. O'CONNELL J.

COUNSEL: Antoine d'Ailly, for the Applicant (via email :antoine@ajdlaw.ca)

Andrew Lokan and Karen Jones, for the Respondent (via email:
andrew. I okan@paliareroland.com; karen jones@,paliareroland.com)

HEARD: December 9,2022viaZoom

ENDORSEMENT

tll This matter was assigned to me On December 7,2022. It is a motion for an interim
injunction, which was winnowed down when I heard it, to be a motion for an interim injunction to
prohibit the Chair of the Panel, Mr. Mackay, from participating as a panelist for the Tribunal on a

disciplinary hearing that is to commence December 12,2022.

l2l Mr. Mackay heard a motion to recuse himself in November 2022 andrejected that remedy.

I heard oral submissions of counsel and had the motion materials inclusive of the factums of the
parties.

t3] I dismissed the motion for an interlocutory injunction at the conclusion of oral argument.

I provided oral reasons for so doing.

14] On consent, costs are awarded to the College in the amount of $3,500.00 all inclusive.

t5l This matter will proceed before the Discipline Committee on December 12,2022 as

currently scheduled.

Date: December 9,2022

The Honourable Mr. H.K. O'Connell



23
ITEM 1.2

Generated Internallv

College of Ghiropractors of Ontario
Fitness to Practise Gommittee Report to Gouncil
February 24,2023

Members: Dr. Dennis Mizel, Chair
Ms Robyn Gravelle
Dr. Angelo Santin

Staff Support: Ms Jo-Ann Willson, Registrar and General Counsel
Mr. Joel Friedman, Deputy Registrar

Committee Mandate

To hear and determine allegations of mental or physical incapacity referred to the

committee by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee.

To review applications for reinstatement following an incapacity finding.

I
The Fitness to Practise Committee has no recorlmendations at this time.

Since the last council meeting the committee has not held a meeting or hearing.

a

a



24
ITEM 1.3

Generated Internally

Gollege of Chiropractors of Ontario
lnquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report to Council
February 24,2023

Members: Mr. Markus de Domenico, Chair,
Mr. Gagandeep Dhand4
Dr. Michael Gauthier,
Dr. Sarah Greert
Dr. Ian Quist, non-Council Member
Ms Kelly Malcolm, Investigator
Ms Christine McKeown,Inquiries, Complaints & Reports Officer
Ms Tina Perryman, Manager, Inquiries, Complaints & Reports

Staff Support:

Committee Mandate

o To respond to inquiries, complaints and reports in a manner consistent with CCO's
legislative mandate under the RHPA.

o To review investigation reports carried out pursuant to s. 75 of the RHPA, and to make

decisions concerning any further action, including the referral of specified allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence to the Discipline Committee and the imposition
of interim terms, conditions or limitations on a member's certificate of registration.

I
Since the last report to Council, the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC)

met on two occasions by zoom, as follows:

December reviewed 13 cases

Made decisions on 5 cases

Appointed 75(1Xc) investigators on 6 cases

Completed 2 oral cautions

January reviewed 13 cases

Made decisions on 10 cases

Appointed 75(1Xc) investigators on 2 cases

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB) upheld 3 Committee decisions,
(attached) and returned 1 decision for fuither consideration.

The Committee continues to work diligently to meet time lines with a high volume of matters

to consider. Virtual meetings have been effective to date.



In reply please quote: File # 21-CRV-0239) (20-

MY.Il

Health Professions
Appeal and Review
Board

November 25,2022

Peter Denton

Heather J. Vaughan

Commission
d'appel et de r6vision
des professions de la sant6

ITEM 1.3.1

ffiF{ff$flKVruT}

ttsv 2 E ?fta&

CO!,fu EG g OF C*iXROFRACT'OR$
OF'OHTARTO

Ontario

CONF'IDENTIAL

Counsel for Applicant

Counsel for Respondent

25

Dear Mr. Denton and Ms. Vaughan

Rr: CourlnrNr Rnvrnw - CnnoPnncrlc
TBnNY AND JESICCA Lnlvrl.tnn AND WADE Ra,raBz D.C

Enclosed herewith is a true copy of the Decision and Reasons of the Health Professions Appeal

and Review Board in the above-noted matter.

While your file is now closed, please note that parties to Complaint Reviews of the Health
professions Appeal and Review Board have the right to request a judicial review of the Board's

decision within ro days of the date the decision was made1. You may wish to consider obtaining

legal advice to determine what options are available to you. To request a judicial review contact

the Divisional Court at 416-327-5100.

Yours sincerely,
HEALTII PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

Alpha Aberra
Case Officer

Encl: Decision dated November 25, 2022

c. college of chiropractors of ontario (ccoPRA File # 20-MY-11)

1 Section 5 oftheJudicial Review Procedure Act

151 Bloor Street West, 9m Floor
Toronto, Ontario M5S 154

TIUT€16 416-327-8512
Toll fiee/Sans ftais 1-866-282-2179

TTY/ATS 416-326-7TTY(889)
TTY Toll free/ATS sans frais 1-877-301-0TTY(889)

Facsimile/T6ldcopieut 41 6 -327 -8524

151 , rue Bloor ouest, 9' 6tage
Toronto, Ontario M5S 1S4



26

File # 2l-CRV-0239

HEALTH PROFESSIONS APPEAL AND REVIEW BOARI)

PRESENT

Anna-Marie Castrodale, Designated Vice-Chair, Presiding
Sonia Gaal, Board Member
Mitchell Toker, Vice-Chair

Review held on April 7, 2022 in Ontario (by teleconference)

IN THE MATTER OF A COMPLAINT REVIEW UNDER SECTION 29(1) oi the llealth
Professions Procedural Code, Schedule 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act,1991, Statutes

of Ontario, 1991, c.18, as amended

BETWEEN:

TERRY LEMAIRE
Applicant

WADE RAFACZ, DC
Respondent

Appearances:

and

The Applicant:
Support for the Applicant:
For the Applicant
For the Respondent:
For the College of Chiropractors of Ontario

Terry Lemaire
Jessica Lemaire
Peter Denton, Counsel
Heather J. Vaughan, Counsel
Tina Perryman, Representative

DECISION AND REASONS

L DECISION

The Health Professions Appeal and Review Board returns the decision to the Inquiries,

Complaints and Reports Committee of the College of Chiropractors of Ontario and

requires it to reconsider this matter and to issue a fuither decision.

I



27

2 This decision arises from a request made to the Health Professions Appeal and Review

Board (the Board) by Terry Lemaire (the Applicant) to review a decision of the lnquiries,

Complaints and Reports Commiffee (the Committee or the ICRC) of the College of

Chiropractors of Ontario (the College). The decision concerned a complaint regarding the

conduct and actions of Wade Rafacz, DC (the Respondent). The Committee investigated

the complaint and decided to issue advice to the Respondent to adhere to: Standard S-

001: Chiropractic Scope of Practice; Standard 5-002: Record Keeping, and Guideline G-

00L : Communication w ith P atients -

il. BACKGROUND

The Applicant's spouse (the patient) suffers from type I diabetes'

In October 20l8,the patient sought treatment from the Respondent, a chiropractor, ooto

help understand diabetes." The Respondent treated the patient until November 2019.

During this period the patient and the Respondent exchanged numerous text messages,

including messages regarding blood sugar, insulin, and the patient's insulin pump.

On November 10, 20I9,the patient was feeling unwell and sought treatment from the

Respondent.

The Respondent treated the patient who vomited several times and still did not feel well

The Respondent did not advise the patient to seek further medical treatment.

On the morning of November 11, 2}Ig,the patient was unresponsive in a diabetic coma

and was hospitalized at the Timmins District Hospital (the hospital) for ketoacidosis.

J.

4.

5

6

7

8

2



28
The Complaint and the Response

The Conrylaint

9. The Applicant complained to the College as follows:

[The Respondent] was telling [the patient] that he could cure her type I
Diabetes. And that her synthetic insulin was enabling her pancreas to secrete
its own insulin. After hearing these statement [sic] [the patient] was asking if
she should lower her insulin levels and [the Respondent] responded "if you
feel comfortable doing so," without telling her to talk to her physician. She

began to lower in insulin [intake] on a daily basis because of statements and
claims [the Respondent] had made. On November 1Oth 2019 she was not
feeling well and I drove her to get treated, she began vomiting and fthe
Respondent] assured her this was norrnal it was the acidity leaving her body.
On the morning of November 1lth 2019 lthe patient] was unresponsive and
was hospitalized for severe ketoacidosis due to high blood sugar levels due to
lack of insulin intake. This was not within his scope of practice to be
encouraging this without seeking medical advise [sic] from a physician to
lower prescribed insulin amounts which almost [cost] her life.

The Response

10. The Respondent provided a written response to the complaint in which he stated:

o There was never any mention oftype I diabetes.

o It is against his professional conduct to make any statements with this regard.

. Any decision for medication is up to the patient.

o This was made clear at the first meeting as he does not treat medical conditions.

o He supports and encourages people in their own decisions based on their health

goals.

. As far as providing services on November 10, he made himself available. After

careo he requested an update in the patient's condition as she had to drive home an

hour and he received no response.

o The complaint was a malicious attack.

aJ



29

11. The Respondent provided an additional response in which he indicated:

On November 10, 2019, (Sunday) the clinic was not open as they were ofhcially

on holidays.

The patient texted him as she and the Applicant arrived at the Cochrane office at

his house.

As soon as the patient entered and took off her boots, she had to vomit'

The Respondent found her pulses were very fast and proceeded to correct

Subluxation. Dysponesis was Compensation phase 4 Indican'

The patient was not feeling well and the Respondent corrected the spinal

dysfunction as indicated by leg length tests'

Any supplements and/or water was provided.

The patient proceeded to vomit again.

When discussing why this had occurred, the patient stated that she once again had

pickles and four meat patties to eat on the Friday'

This had caused her stress before.

After the Respondent had corrected subluxation, the patient still did not "feel

well".

The Respondent told them that was all he could do, that he had not seen anything

like this before and that doing more was making him feel uncomfortable'

The Respondent still adjusted what could be found and the patient was still not

feeling well.

The patient stated that she would contact him when she got home, "if she was not

feeling well, would recommend going to hospital'"

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

a

o

a

a

4

























































































































































































































































































460

Choose an item.

Choose an item-The College fulf Ils this requirement:

Duration of orientation training.

Please brieffy describe the format of orientation training (e.g., in-person, online, with facilitator, testing knowledge at the end).

Please insert a link and indicate the page number if training topics are public OR list orientation training topics.

t,". e ;l , rrt-tt,.r 
''i.11 

,lt.tt.t-!:r',.:.t!t

c. Prior to attending their first
meeting, public appointments to
Council undertake an orientation
training course provided by the
College about the College's
mandate and expectations
pertaining to the appointee's
role and responsibilities.

12 | P age



461

llrrl:r ,rr rft:n.

ihoa-{e ar ii:efi.The College fuifills this requirement:

Please provide the year when Framework was developed OR last updated.

Please insert a link to Framework OR link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where the Framework is found and was approved.

Evaluation and assessment results are discussed at public Council meeting: Citt:e iin ilt,l:.

tfyes, please inserto tinkto the lost Council meeting ond indicote the poge numberwhere the most recent evoluotion results have been presented ond discussed.

a. Council has developed and

implemented a framework to
regularly evaluate the
effectiveness of:

i, Council meetings; and

ii. Council.

13lpag€



462

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Has a third party been engaged by the College for evaluation of Council effectiveness? Choose an item

lf yes, how often do they occur?

Please indirate the year of last third-party evaluation.

4idllir-,rtl lctrrr:cnt-r /lr r"llrif(iriior: hplior;ol]

b. The framework includes a third-
party assessment of Council
effectiveness at a minimum every
three years.

14lPage



463

Choose an item

Choose an item.

ArJriifiorrol con;n;e,r;ls /oi clor,f rr:illri loulir.rt;olj.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to documents outlining how outcome evaluations have informed Council and Committee training

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where this information is found OR

Please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided.gJellhClgsllalclri.ilJeA-t.

and indicate the page numbers.

Ongoing training provided to
Council and Committee members

has been informed by:

i. the outcome of relevant
evaluation(s);

ii. the needs identified by

Council and Committee
members; and/or

c.

15l P age



464

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to documents outlining how evolving public expectations have informed Council and Committee training and indicate the page numbers.

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials and indicate the page number where this information is found OR

Please briefly describe how this has been done for the training provided over the last calendar vear.

f fhii resporsc is "portiolly" or "no ", 15 lh9 ao//rec plfttltine ta lnrprovr: iis perJi;rmorrct oyrrr t/re nexf reporting perir:d:)

At.ld it i a no I {:* tiltienisfcr a/oliifolitt n {c pt its nt l} :

iii. evolving public expectations
including risk management
and Diversity, Equity, and
lnclusion.

Further clarification:

Colleges are encouraged to define
public expectations based on input
from the public, their members, and
stakeholders.

Risk management is essential to
effective oversight since internal and
external risk may impact the ability
of Council to fulfill its mandate.

16lPage



465

Chcc:e iln licil

Ciros* ln ii:r:i::

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year when the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' Policy was last evaluated/updated.

Please briefly describe any changes made to the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of Interest Policy' resulting from the last review.

a. The College Council has a Code of

Conduct and 'conflict of Interest'

policy that is:

i. reviewed at least every three
years to ensure it reflects

current legislation, practices,
public expectations, issues,

and emerging initiatives (e.g.,

Diversity, Equity, and
lnclusion); and

Further clarification:

Colleges are best placed to determine
the public expectations, issues and

emerging initiatives based on input
from their members, stakeholders,
and the public. While there wlll be

similarities across Colleges such as

Diversity, Equity, and lnclusion, this is

also an opportunity to reflect
additional issues, expectations, and
emerging initiatives unique to a

College or profession.

N
oc
oz
F
vt

lrJ
Uz
z
E
LIJ

o
(9

r{
z

o

17 | P aqs



466

Choose an item

Choose an item

Choose an item

The College ful=ills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Council Code of Conduct and 'Conflict of lnterest' Poliry OR Council meeting materials where the policy is found and was bst discussed

and appro[ed and indicate the page number.

'1.:tt; t,'tl',,;, t.t' .. 1': lr1.it411i 11 !, r;i'n4!;

The College ful'ills this requirement:

Cooling offperiod is enforced through: Choose an item.

Please provide the year that the cooling off period policy was developed OR last evaluated/updated.

Please pro\:ide the length ofthe cooling off period.

How does the College define the cooling off period?

- lnsert a link to policy / document specifying the cooling off period, including circumstances where it is enforced and indicate the page number;

- lnsertalinktoCouncilmeetingwherecoolingoffperiodhasbeendiscussedanddecideduponandindicatethepagenumber;OR

- Where not publicly available, please briefly describe the cooling off policy.

ii. accessible to the public.

b. The College enforces a minimum
time before an individual can be

elected to Council after holding a

position that could create an

actual or perceived conflict of
interest with respect their
Council duties (i.e., cooling off
periods).

Further clarification:
Colleges may provide additional
methods not listed here by which they
meet the evidence.

18lPage



467

Choose an item.

Choose an item

Choose an item.

Please provide the year when conflict of interest the questionnaire was implemented OR last evaluated/updated.

Member(s) note whethertheir questionnaire requires amendments at each Council meeting and whetherthey have any conflicts ofinterest based on Council

agenda items: Choose an item"

Please insert a link to the most recent Council meeting materials that includes the questionnaire and indicate the page number.

l/ thc restonse is "p(rtiolly" ot "no", is th( Calleile plct nn ing to impravp ii:s pett'o rn.enrc rrver the nexi rep arl!nq period ?

Atlrlilianuf comme nts ft:r darifiraticn (aptiailtl)

f fhp €)-po,rse is "ysurtinlly" ar "t)a", is the Cclleqe plcnrsing ta inprcve its perfo:rl?{rnae )vtr tlTt r'exi r€portinq perioa ?

Ad d i t i rs n n I c o rn rn t n t a .f a r (1 a r i l' i t G t i o n ( o p t i o n cr I )

The College fulfills this requirement:c. The College has a conflict-of-
interest questionnaire that all

Council members must complete
annually.

Addills-oallv:

i. the completed
questionnaires are included

as an appendix to each
Council meeting package;

ii. questionnaires include
definitions of conflict of
interesu

iii. questionnaires include
questions based on areas of
risk for conflict of interest
identified by Council that are
specific to the profession

and/or College; and

iv. at the beginning of each
Council meeting, members
must declare any updates to
their responses and any

conflict of interest soecific to
the meetins aqenda.

19l P age



468

Choose an item.

Choose an item
The College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe how the College makes public interest rationale for Council decisions accessible for the public.

Please insert a linkto Council meeting materials that include an example of howthe College references a public interest rationale and indicate the page number

;-1dd/iiorr*/ ron;nretts /r:r clcllir:olrr:r 1f ree'dccf

d. Meeting materials for Council
enable the public to clearly
identifo the public interest
rationale and the evidence
supporting a decision related to
the College's strategic direction
or regulatory processes and
actions (e.g., the minutes include
a link to a publicly available
briefing note).

20lPage



469

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

lf the rcsponsf is "partially" ar "no", is the Cr:llege plonnit;a to inlprove its perf\rillonce avdthe iltvl rcp.)rtinq p(riad?

.At1tiit ionoI corrtrrtents for clorificQtio n (if needed)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide the year that the formal approach was last reviewed.

Please insert a link to the internal and external risks identified by the College OR Council meeting materials where the risks were discussed and integrated into the

College's strategic planning activities and indicate page number.

The College has and regularly
reviews a formal approach to
identify, assess, and manage
internal and external risks. This

approach is integrated into the
College's strategic planning and

operations.

Further clarification:
Formal approach refers to the
documented method or
which a College undertakes to
identify, assess, and manage risk. This

method or process should
be regularly reviewed and

appropriate.

Risk management planning activities
should be tied to strategic objectives

of Council since internal and external
risks may impact the ability of Council

to fulfill its mandate, especially in the
absence of mitigations.

lnternal risks are related to operations
of the College and may impact its

ability to meet its strategic objectives.
EKernal risks are economic, political

and/or natural factors that happen

outside of the organization.

21 lPage



470

lhccse a,: ilen'r

Chs0sr sn :lrry)The College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to the webpage where Council minutes are posted.

Please insert a link to where the status updates on implementation of Council declsions to date are posted OR where the process for requesting these materials is
posted.

..1_ :r . - i.t ii : -r :i,' .r r1 'r 'ra, t .'.:'1 . 
,

a. Council minutes (once approved)
and status updates on the
implementation of Council
decisions to date are accessible
on the College's website, or a

process for requesting materials
is clearly outlined.

LU(Jz
z
d.
LIJ

o('
J
z

oo

tn
o
&
6z
Fv,

22lPage



471

Choose an item

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the webpage where Executive Committee minutes/meeting information are posted

AdCit iorol commp n t s ja r.l n rili1:]0t io n (o ptio n ( l )

b. The following information about

Executive Committee meetings is

clearly posted on the College's

website (alternatively the College

can post the approved minutes if
it includes the following

information).

i. the meetingdate;

ii. the rationale for the

meeting;

iii. a report on discussions and

decisions when Executive

Committee acts as Council

or discusses/deliberates on

matters or materials that
will be brought forward to or

affect Council; and

iv. if decisions will be ratified by

Council,

23lPage



472

Cliocst n'-r ;icr.

{lh{)0s. a,r il.,rnl

C\**se ;r iirr:r.

The College ful=ills this requirement:

Pleas€ insert a link to where past Council meeting materials can be accessed OB vrrhere the process for requesting these materials is clearly posted

i: :. ,. . . I r. :): i:: : :r,.'..':at:'r' .,r: -: .'. .'

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's Notice of Discipline Hearings.

With respect to Council

meetings:

i. Notice of Council meeting

and relevant materials are
posted at least one week in

advance; and
ii. Council meeting materials

remain accessible on the
College's website for a

minimum of 3 years, or a

process for requesting
materials is clearly outlined.

b. Notice of Discipline Hearings are
posted at least one month in

advance and include a link to
allegations posted on the public

register.

24lFage



473

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item

lf ltte resaonse is "piriiaiiy" or "no''. is the Colleqe plonning i:L) inprave it's p€rfa{m(tn.{: avtrtlle n'xt rcportinU peri()t!?

Ad(liti o ! o I co Lil r'terlsfor c/ciifcr:lia n (a ptiu nes I )

lfthe response is "p0rtially" or "ilo", isthe Collegt trtktnninq l:o impro,/€its irer/or/rrrl)cr: overtlte ilext reporting periotl?

Acid i i:io nrsl r:a m rnt n S t'o r ckt rit'ito tia n {a ptia na l)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's DEI plan.

please insert a link to the Council meeting minutes where DEI was discussed as part of strategic planning and appropriate resources were approved and indicate page

number.

a. The DEI plan is reflected in the
Council's strategic planning

activities and appropriately
resourced within the
organization to support relevant
operational initiatives (e.9., DEI

training for staff).

Measur€:

25lPage



474

Ch0ose an item.

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the Equity lmpact Assessments conducted by the College and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe how the College conducts
Equity lmpact Assessments.

lfthe Equity lmpact Assessments are not publicly accessible, please provide examples ofthe circumstances (e.g., applied to a policy, program, or process) in which
Equity lmpact Assessments were conducted.

f ihc respr:nse is "p0rtiftllv" or "no", is the Calleqe planninq tc iftprave il:s perfanilftnr ay{ir fl)a nexl rrro rl:inQ perietl?

Ad d it.io nal m tn ril e nts t'or cla riJit:otian (o pticn a l)

b. The College conducts Equity lmpact
Assessments to ensure that
decisions are fair and that a

policy, or program, or process is

not discriminatory.

Further clarification:

Colleges are best placed to determine
how best to report on an Evidence.
There are several Equity lmpact
Assessments from which a College
may draw upon. The ministry
encourages Colleges to use the tool
best suited to its situation based on
the profession, stakeholders, and
patients it serves.

26lPage



475

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

lfthe response is "pcrd.ially" ar "no", is the College nl(inning to improve its perforrnonce overthe neKt reporting periad?

Additional comments lor clarif icntion (optionol)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials that include discussions about activities or projects to support the strategic plan A,VD a link to the most recent

approved budget and indicate the page number.

Please briefly describe how resources were allocated to activities/projects in support ofthe strategic plan.

a. The College identifies activities

and/or projects that support its

strategic plan including how

resources have been allocated.

Further clarif ication:

A College's strategic plan and budget

should be designed to complement

and support each other. To that end,

budget allocation should depend on

the activities or programs a College

undertakes or identifies to achieve its

goals. To do this, a College should

have estimated the costs of each

activity or program and the budget

should be allocated accordingly.

Measure:

4.l The College demonskatee re$portsible $teward$hip of its financial and human re$ouree$ in achieving its statutor-y objectlves and rssulatory mandate.

2TlPage



476

Choose an item.

Choose an item-The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the "financial reserve policy'' OR Council meeting materials where financial reserve policy has been discussed and approved and indicate the
page number.

Please insert the most recent date when the "financial reserve policy" has been developed OR reviewed/updated.

Hasthefinancial reservepolicybeenvalidatedbyafinancial auditor? Chooseanitern.

i.idoiirr:nr/ r'r;mrn{*ts fot ri,Jrificai:ion (if retded)

b. The College:

i. has a "financial reserve
policy" that sets out the level
of reserves the College
needs to build and maintain
in order to meet its
legislative requirements in
case there are unexpected
expenses andfor a reduction
in revenue and

ii. possesses the level of
reserve set out in its

"financial reserve poliry".

23lPage



477

The College fulfills this requirement: lChoose an item

. Please insert a link to the College's written operational policies which address staffing complement to address current and future needs.

. Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the operational policy was last reviewed and indicate the page number.

Note: Colleges are encouraged to add examples of written operational policies that they identify as enabling a sustainable human resource complement to ensure

organizational success.

reviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expeded timelines ond ony barriers to implementotion,

c. Council is accountable for the

success and sustainability of the

organization it governs. This

includes:

i. regularly reviewing and

updating written

operational policies to

ensure that the organization

has the staffing complement

it needs to be successful now

and, in the future (e.g.,

processes and procedures

for succession planning for

Senior Leadership and

ensuring an organizational

culture that attracts and

retains key talent, through

elements such as training

and engagement).

Benchmorked Evidence

29lPa9e



478

Choose an item.

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's data and technology plan which speaks to improving College processes OR please briefly describe the plan.

A.l.iiiioncl ao/l?rile,ris f.Y.i$r'lflcolrcn /oplion.lli

regularly reviewing and

updating the College's data
and technology plan to
reflect how it adapts its use

of technology to improve
College processes in order to
meet its mandate (e.9.,

digitization of processes

such as registration, updated

cyber security technology,
searchable databases).

il.

30lPage



479

*l I

Standard 5: The College actively engages with other health regulatory colleges and system partners to align oversight of the practice of the profession and support execution

of its mandate,

other system partners to support and strengthen alignment of practice expectations, discipline processes, and quality improvement across all parts of the health system

where the profession practices. ln particular, a College is asked to report on:

. How it hos engoged other heolth regulotory Colleges ond other system portners to strengthen the execution of its oversight mondote ond oligned proctice

expectotions? Pleose provide detoits of initidtives undertaken, how engogement hos shoped the outcome of the poticy/progrom ond identify the specific chonges

implemented ot the College (e.g., joint stondards of proctice, common expectotions in workploce settings, communications, policies, guidonce, website, etc.).

The two standards under this domain are not assessed

based on measures and evidence like other domains, as

there is no 'best practice' regarding the execution of

these two standards.

lnstead, Colleges will report on kev activities,

outcomes, and next steps that have emereed through a

dialosue with the ministrv.

Beyond discussing what Colleges have done, the

dialogue might also identiry other potential areas for

alignment with other Colleges and system partners.

3'l lPage



480

The intent of Standard 5 is to demonstrate that a College has formed the necessa4r relationships with system partners to ensure that it receives and

:ontributes information about relevant changes to public expectations. This could include both relationships where the College is asked to provide information by

;ystem partners, or where the College proactively seeks information in a timely manner.

c Pleose provide exomples of key successes and ochievements from the reporting yeor where the College engoged with portners, including potients/public to ensure

it con respond to chonging public/societol expectotions (e.9., COVID-79 Pondemic, mental heolth, lobor mobility etc.). Pleose olso describe the moftes thdt were

discussed with eoch ofthese partners ond how the information thot the College obtoined/provided wos used to ensure the College could respond to o public/societol

expectotion.

. ln oddition to the portners it regularly interocts with, the College is osked to include informotion dbout how it identifies relevont system portners, mointoins

relotionships so thot the College is oble occess relevant informotion Irom portners in o timely monner, ond leveroges the informotion obtoined to respond

(specific examples of when ond how a hllege responded is requested in Stondord 7).

32 | P age



481

Choose an item

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective policies and processes that addresses disclosure and requests for information.

ffhp response /s "paft.ially" or "n0", isth* Callegu planninq to improve its perfaftnonce over thc next repcrlina period?

Additionul canme nts for durificcttion (aptionol)

The College demonstrates
how it:

i. uses policies and
processes to govern the
disclosure of, and
requests for
information;

a.

Meazure:

7.1Ths College demon$ratee how it protedts again$t snd addresses unauthorired disclssure of infofitlation.

Fz
LJJ

L]J
(9

z

z

=

o
Lz
+
z
a
o
O

F
o

oz
F
rh

Coll€ge frssponseRequired f,videneq

33 | P age



482

Choose an ,tem.The College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to policies and processes OR please briefly describe the respective po icies and processes to add ress clbersecurity and accidental or unauthorized

disclosure of information

eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion.

uses cybersecurity
measures to protect

against unauthorized
disclosure of
information; and

uses policies, practices

and processes to address
accidental or
unauthorized disclosure
of information.

Benchmorked Evidence

il.

iii.

34 | P age



483

Choose an itern

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College evaluates its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they are up to date

and relevant to the current practice environment and indicate the page number(s) OR please briefly describe the College's evaluation process (e.g., what

triggers an evaluation, how often are evaluations conducted, what steps are being taken, which stakeholders are being engaged in the evaluation and how are

they involved).

"eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be taking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion.

The College fulfills this requirement:a. The College regularly evaluates

its policies, standards of
practice, and practice

guidelines to determine

whether they are

appropriate, or require

revisions, or if new direction

or guidance is required based

on the current practice

environment.

Benchmorked Evidence

u)€LLr OU4
u\/zr4

>F)6
o
F
J
f
(9
L!t
t;
z
a
\Jo

35lPage



484

Choose an item.The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to document(s) that outline how the College develops or amends its policies, standards of practice, and practice guidelines to ensure they
address the listed components and indicate the page number(s) OR please briefly describe the College's development and amendment process.

'eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony borriers to implementotion.

b. Provide information on how
the College takes into
account the following
components when

developing or amending
policies, standards and
practice guidelines:

i. evidence and data;

ii. the risk posed to patients /
the public;

iii, the current practice

environment;

iv. alignment with other
health regulatory Colleges
(where appropriate, for
example where practice

matters overlap);

v. expectations of the public;

and

vi. stakeholder views and
feedback.

Benchmarked Evidence

36 | P age



485

Choose an item

Choose an item.

f the respon-jr is "pa|iio lly" ,)r " na", is the C1llege plo nning to inprr:ve its ;terft: rmo nc e ovsr il1€ il*t repJrtina p{?ttac{ /

Atlditirsnui comntents t'or clarif iciltiun (aptionol)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe how the College reviews its policies, guidelines, standards and Code of Ethics to ensure that they promote Diversity, Equity and lnclusion.

Please highlightsome examples ofpolicies, guidelines, standards orthe Code ofEthics where Diversity, Equity and lnclusion are reflected.

c. The College's policies,
guidelines, standards and

Code of Ethics should
promote Diversity, Equity,

and lnclusion (DEl) so that
these principles and values
are reflected in the care
provided by the registrants of
the College.

37lP age



486

Choose an itemThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link that o utlines the po licies or processes in place to ensure the documentation provided by candidates meets registration requirements and indicate
page number OR please briefly describe in a few words the processes and checks that are carried out.

Please insert a link and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe an overview of the process undertaken to review how a College operationalizes its
registration processes to ensure documentation provided by candidates meets registration requirements (e.g., communication with other regulators in other
jurisdictions to secure records of good conduct, confirmation of information from supervisors, educators, etc.).

a. Processes are in place to
ensure that those who meet the

registration requirements receive

a certificate to practice

(e.g., how it operationalizes the

registration of members,

including the review and

validation of submitted

documentation to detect

fraudulent documents,

confirmation of information from

supervisors, etc.)1.

o1U() O
=ti<90+aIF

o./tF
F
f
m

F
f
tn
(j
z
a

a

any certificate of registration, including whether an applicant is eligible to be granted an exemption from a particular requirement,

38 | P age



487

Choose an item

Choose an item

Choose an item

AC d it i{na I co m ne nts fo r cls rlt'i cdtia n lc ptio nn | )

Please insert a link that outlines the policies or processes in place for identifying best practices to assess whether an

(e.g., how to assess English proficiency, suitability to practice etc.), a link to Council meeting materials where these have been discussed and decided upon and

indicate page numbers OR please briefly describe the process and checks that are carried out.

Please provide the date when the criteria to assess registration requirements was last reviewed and updated.

applicant meets registration requirements

f fle i"cs;:ons+ A "p(ttially" or "ni', islhe Ctsiltgt: plonning te iniprove il:s pet'fcrtnonce r:vertht ne:<i rercrlitl(l otriod?

A<1tl iti o nu i rtt ni qte fi ts fot {: I it rifi catio n (untiona l)

The College fulfills this requirement:b. The College periodically

reviews its criteria and

processes for determining

whether an applicant meets

its registration requirements,

against best practices (e.g.,

how a College determines

language proficiency, how

Colleges detect fraudulent

applications or documents

including applicant use of
third parties, how Colleges

confirm registration status in

other jurisdictions or
professions where relevant

etc.).

39lPage



488

Choo:r ar itrrn

C\llst ;r lirnr

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please briefly describe the currency and competency requirements registrants are required to meet.

Please briefly describe how the College identified currency and competency requirements"

Please provide the date when currency and competency req uirements were last reviewed and updated.

Please briefly describe how the College monitors that registrants meet currency and competency requirements (e.g., self-declaration, audits, random audit etc.)
and how frequently this is done.

c. A risk-based approach is used

to ensure that currency2 and
other competency
requirements are monitored
and regularly validated (e.g.,

procedures are in place to
verify good character,
continuing education,
practice hours requirements
etc.).

assessed as part of registration processes are included (e.9., during renewal of a certificate of registration, or at any other time).

401!sgs



489

Choose an item.

Choose an item

lf the response is "portiolly" or "no", ts the College planning ta intprave its performsnce overthe nexl reporting period?

Atldition(11 comments far clarificatian (if needed)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the most recent assessment report by the OFC OR please provide a summary of outcome assessment report.

Where an action plan was issued, is it: Choose an item.

a. The College addressed all

recommendations, actions

for improvement and next

steps from its most recent

Audit by the Office of the

Fairness Commissioner (OFC).

and fair.

Meosure;

41 lPage



490

|ircsc ;r r-. :ie *.

(irOcss an;teilThe College fulfllls this requirement:

Please briefly describe a recent example of how the College has assisted its registrants in the uptake of a new or amended standard

- Name ofStandard

- Duration of period that support was provided

- Activities undertaken to support registrants

- % of registrants reached/participated by each activity

- Evaluation conducted on effectiveness of support provided

DoestheCollegealwaysprovidethislevelofsupport: ahrise tr.t$ttt
lf not, please provide a brief explonotion:

Provide examples of how the
College assists registrants in

implementing required

changes to standards of
practice or practice guidelines

(beyond

communicating the existence
of new standard, FAQs, or
supporting documents).

Fu rther clarif ication:

Colleges are encouraged to
support registrants when
implementing changes to
standards of practice or
guidelines. Such activities could
include carrying out a follow-up
survey on how registrants are
adopting updated standards of
practice and addressing
identifiable gaps.

a.

lrl
U
trU
d.
o-
oF
F
J
co

F
f
(.n

(j
z
a
oo

orl
o
c,
oz
F
rA

42lllgs



491

Choose an item.

Choose an item

ifth e respr:nse is "ptnially" or "no", isthe Callege plonning tL) imprave its pet(;rnmnce averthe nexl reporting ptriad?

l\d d it i a n n I co n m e n t s fo r rl 0 rif i ca t i ct n (cpt ia n o I i

The College fulfills this requirement;

Please l'tst the College's priority areas offocus for QA assessment and.briefly describe how they have been identified OR please insert a link to the website where

this information can be found and indicate the page number.

ls the process taken above for identirying priority areas codified in a policy: Choose an item

If yes, pleose insert linkto the Wlicy.

a. The College has processes

and policies in place

outlininS:

i. how areas of practice that
are evaluated in QA
assessments are identified
in order to ensure the
most impact on the quality

of a registrant's practice;

Mggzure;
1O.l tho administers the assessment co of lts QA Frogrsm in a manner that is aligred with teuch

https://www.professionalstandards.org.uk/publications/right-touch-regulation).

43lPage



492

lhoose an item

Choose an item.

The College fulfills this requirement: os€ an item.

Please insert a link to document(s) outlining details of right touch approach and evidence used (e.g., data, literature, expert panel) to inform assessment approach
and indicate page numbe(s).

OR please briefly describe right touch approach and evidence used.

Please provide the year the right touch approach was implemented OR when it was evaluated/updated (if applicable).

lf evoluoted/updoted, did the college engoge the following stokeholders in the evoluotion:

- Public Choose an item.

- Employers Choose an item.

- Registronts Choose an item.
- otherstakeholders Choose an item"

Addiiror;r/ ccn;r;,:r ls.lor r lcnfr:cllcr, {i:pi roroli

The College fulfills this requirement an item.

Please insert a link to the document that outlines criteria to inform remediation activities and indicate page number OR list criteria.

ii. details of how the College

uses a right touch,
evidence informed
approach to determine
which registrants will
undergo an assessment
activity (and which type of
multiple assessment

activities); and

iii. criteria that will inform the
remediation activities a

registrant must undergo
based on the OA
assessment, where
necessary.

44lPage



493

Ci:r:lsg;;rt iitrr:

a' Ct:{"\'trl il'iiitt.

The College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to the College's process for monitoring whether registrant's complete remediation activities OR please briefly describe the process.

Please insert a link to the College's process for determining whether a registrant has demonstrated the knowledge, skills and judgement following remediation

OR please briefly describe the process.

a. The College tracks the results
of remediation activities a

registrant is directed to
undertake as part of any
College committee and

assesses whether the
registrant subsequently
demonstrates the required

knowledge, skill and
judgement while practicing.

45lF:gs



494

aho.se ir ite*:

lhar:+ ar rien.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a li nk to the Col lege's website that clea rly descri bes the Col I ege's complai nt:; p rocess i nclud ing, options to resolve a co mplaint, the potential outcomes

associated with the respective options and supports available to the complainant.

Please insert a link to the polices/procedures for ensuring all relevant information is received during intake OR please briefly describe the policies and procedures

if the documents are not publicly accessible.

The different stages of the

complaints process and all

relevant supports available to

complainants are:

i. supported by formal
policies and procedures

to ensure all relevant

information is received

during intake at each

stage, including next

steps for follow up;

ii. clearly communicated

directly to complainants

who are engaged in the

complaints process,

including what a

complainant can expect

at each stage and the

supports available to

them (e.9., funding for
sexual abuse therapy);

and;

a.

LU(J
F(J
d.
o-

F
F
J
a
F:
U)
(o
z
a
oo

F.l
Fl
a
d

az
Frh

46l5agc



495

Choose an item

Choose an item

Choose an item

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please provide details of how the College evaluates whether the information provided to complainants is clear and useful.

f the response is "portiolly" or "no", describe the College's plan to fully implement this meosure. Outline the steps (i.e., drofing policies, consufing stdkeholde$, or
eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony boniers to implementotion.

The College fulfills this requirement

Please insert rate (see Comoanion Document: Technical Specifications for Quantitative CPMF Measures).

Ad d iti Ls n a ! rc nt m c n t.; Io r c l o ri l i r ut i a n (t:t pi l t: n a l )

iii. evaluated by the ColleBe to
ensure the information
provided to
complainants is clear and
useful.

Benchmorked Evidence

b. The College responds to 90% of
inquiries from the public

within 5 business days, with

follow-up timelines as

necessary.

47 lP age



496
llc;se arr iini;':

Chca!r ilr lie fi.

Clacsc ar :irl11

lnlcsr.lr lie r:.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please list supports available for the public during the complaints process.

Please briefly describe at what points during the complaints process that complainants are made aware of supports available.

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a Iink to document(s) outlining how complainants can contact the College during the complaints process and indlcate the page numbe(s) OR please

provide a brief description.

Please insert a link to document(s) outlining how complainants are supported to participate in the complaints process and indicate the page number(s) oR please
provide a brief description.

c. Demonstrate how the College
supports the public during

the complaints process to
ensure that the process is

inclusive and transparent
(e.9., translation services are
available, use of technology,
access outside regular

business hours, transparency
in decision-making to make

sure the public understand
how the College makes
decisions that affect them
etc.).

a. Provide details about how the
College ensures that all parties

are regularly updated on the
progress of their complaint or
discipline case, including how
complainants can contact the
College for information (e.g.,

availability and accessibility to
relevant information,
translation services etc.).

481:ag*



497

Choose an item,

Choose an itemThe College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to guidance document and indicate the page number OR please briefly describe the framework and how it is being applied

Please provide the year when it was implemented OR evaluated/updated (if applicable).

U the response is "ptrrticllv" or "na", is the C()llege pl0nning to itjlprave its performance o'rer the next reparl.ing periotl?

Additicnal comfienls t'or clarif ication {optional)

Add tl i o tte I (t til t1e t tl s ftsr t lo r iJlr at io rr ( opt iona I )

a. The College has accessible, up-

to-date, documented
guidance setting out the
framework for assessing risk
and acting on complaints,
including the prioritization of
investitations, complaints,
and reports (e.9., risk matrix,
decision matrix/tree, triage
protocol).

LJJ

U
FU

o_

o
F
F
J
m

F
f

6
z
a
oo

Measurer
t2"t The College addrest€s complaints in a right touch manner.

N
Fl

o
&.

oz
F
IA

49lPage



498

Ci:cnse an ite n

Chcax i:ir ;te n.The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the policy and indicate page number OR please briefly describe the policy.

Please provide an overview ofwhom the College has shared information with overthe pastyearand the purpose ofsharingthat information (i.e., general sectors

ofsystem partner, such as'hospital', or'long-term care home').

a. The College's policy outlining
consistent criteria for
disclosure and examples of
the general circumstances
and type of information that
has been shared between the
College and other relevant
system partners, within the
legal framework, about
concerns with individuals and
any results.

LU(J

=(J
t
o-
o
F
F
J
a
F
f
U)

6
z
a
oo

(n

oc
az
Ftt

50lFage



499

Ciicos* ;n itrct

ihOose ln ilellr.The College fulfills this requirement

Please insert a link to a document that list College's KPls with an explanation for why these KPls have been selected (including what the results the respective

KPls tells, and how it relates to the College meeting its strategic objectives and is therefore relevant to track), a link to Council meeting materlals where this

information is included and indicate page number OR list KPls and rationale for selection.

Outline the College's KPls,

including a clear rationale for
why each is important.

l
Fz
LU

UJ

o
e.
o-

=od
(,
z
=&o
o-
LIJ
d.
t-'z
LU

LIJ
e.
l
u')

lrJ

l''-
z

oo

$
F.l
oc
o
2
F

51 lPage



500

Choose an item.

Choose an item,

Addrljcrr;ol r:orrrrri tnls for <:lrtri!itathn /rl nesc;r:rjj

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the College reported to Council on its progress against stated strategic objectives, regulatory outcomes

and risks that may impact the College's ability to meet its objectives and the corresponding meeting minutes and indicate the page number.

AdrJlll<;nol r:r:lrlr:,,r ls li:r c/orpcctir:n fil ne cor:dl

b. The College regularly reports to
Council on its performance and

risk review against:

i. stated strategic objectives

(i.e., the objectives set out
in a College's strategic
plan);

ii. regulatory outcomes (i.e.,

operational

indicators/targets with

reference to the goals we

are expected to achieve

under the RHPA); and

iii. its risk management

approach.

52lPage



501

Choose an item.

Choose an item.

Choose an item.The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to the College's dashboard or relevant section of the College's website.

i tlditio nu i t c rnt ncrri"l lbr i:/or'ficrlr on {il nr.:r:ded)

The College fulfills this requirement:

Please insert a link to Council meeting materials where the Council used performance and risk review findings to identify where the College needs to implement

improvement activities and indicate the page number.

.eviewing/revising existing policies or procedures, etc.) the College will be toking, expected timelines ond ony bqftiers to implementotion.

Performance results related to a

College's strategic objectives
and regulatory outcomes are
made public on the College's
website.

a. Council uses performance and
risk review findings to identify
where improvement activities
are needed.

Benchmarked Evidence

53lPage



502

Part 2z Context Measures

recommended manner (e.9., due to differences in definitions), a College can report the information in a manner that is conducive to its data infrastructure and availability.

future.

order to understand how the information provided was calculated.

The ministry has also included hyperlinks of the definitions to a glossary of terms for easier navigation.

54lPage



503

Table 1- Context Measure 1

In

Whot does this informotion tell us? Quolity ossuronce (QA) ond Quality
lmprovement (Ql) ore critical components in ensuring thot professionals provide

core tho: is sofe, effective, potient-centred and ethicol. ln oddition, heolth care
professianols foce o number of ongoing chonges that might impoct how they
practice (e.9., chonging roles ond responsibilities, changing public expectations,

legislotivz chonges).

The information provided here illustrotes the diversity of QA octivities the College

undertock in dssessing the competency of its registrants and the QA ond Ql
octivities its registrdnts undertook to mointoin competency in CY 2022. The diversity

of QA/QI octivities ond ossessments is reflective of a College's risk-bosed opprooch
in executing its QA program, whereby the frequency of assessment dnd octivities to

mointoin competency ore informed by the risk of o registront not acting

competently. Detoils of how the College determined the opproprioteness of its
assessment component of its QA program are described or referenced by the
College in Meosure 10.2(o) of Standord 10.

#

Context Measure (CM)

CM 1. Type and distribution of QA/QI activities and assessments used in CY 2022*

Type of QA/QI activity or assessment:

<lnsert QA activity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or dssessment>

<lnsert QA dctivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or dssessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or dssessment>

<lnsert QA activity or ossessment>

<lnsert QA octivity or dssessment>

<lnsert QA activity or assessment>

<lnsert QA activity or dssessment>

L

ii.

iii.

vii.

viii.

ix.

X.

Statistica I data collected in accorda nce with the recommend ed method or the College's own method: Chcose a n ite rn

lf a College method is used, pleose specify the rationole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

55lFage



504

Additional comments for clarificotion (if needed)

* Registronts may be undergoing multipk A octivities over the course ofthe reporting period. While future iterations ofthe CPMF

moy evolve to copture the different permutotions of pathways registrdnts moy undergo os port of o College's QA Program, the
requested stotisticol informotion recognizes the current limitotions in doto availobility todoy and is therefore limited to type ond
distribution of QA/QI octivities or assessments used in the reporting period.

NR

56 | P age



505
Table 2 - Context Measures 2 and 3

I

What does this information tell us? lf d registront's knowledge, skills,

and judgement to practice sofely, effectively, ond ethicolly hove been

ossessed or reossessed and found to be unsotisfoctory or o registrdnt
is non-complidnt with o College's QA Progrom, the College moy refer
them to the College's QA Committee.

The informdtion provided here shows how many registrdnts who

underwent on octivity or ossessment os part ofthe QA progrom where

the QA Committee deemed thot their proctice is unsotisfoctory ond as

a result have been directed to porticipdte in specified continuing

educdtion or remediotion progrom os of the stdrt of CY 2022,

understonding that some coses moy corry over.

#

Context Measure (CMl

CM 2. Total number of registrants who participated in the QA Program CY 2022

CM 3, Rate of registrants who were referred to the QA Committee as part of the Cl,A

Program where the QA Committee directed the registrant to undertake remediation in

cY 2022.

NR

Additianal comments for clorificdtion (if needed)

Statistica I data collected in accordance with the recom mend:d method or the College own method: Choose a n ilen"t

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rdtionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

57 | P age



506
Table 3 - Context Measure 4

Whot does this informotion tell us? This informotion provides insight into the
outcome of the College's remedial activities directed by the M Committee dnd mdy
help o College evaluate the effectiveness of its "QA remediotion octivities". Without
additionol context no conclusions con be drown on how successful the QA

remediotion qctivities ore, os mony factors may influence the practice ond
beh aviou r re g i :;tro nts ( conti n u e to ) disp I ay.

#

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: Choosr an :tenl

lf o College method is used, pleose specily the rotionole for its use:

context Measure {cM}

CM 4. Outco me of remed ial activities as at the end of CY 2O22:**

l. Registrants who demonstrated required knowledge, skills, and judgement following remediation*

ll. Registrants still undertaking remediation (i.e., remediation in progress)

NR
* This numfur moy include registronts who were directed to undertake remediotion in the previous yeor and completed reossessment in CY 2022.
**This meosure may include ony outcomes from the previous yeor thot were corried over into CY 2022.

Additional comments far clorification (if needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 10

58lDag*



507
Table 4 - Context Measure 5

What does this informotion tell us? This informotion

facilitotes tronsparency to the public, registronts ond the
ministry regording the most prevolent themes identified in

formol complaints received ond Registrdr's lnvestigotions

undertaken by o College.

tov/"

%

Registrar lnvestigations
initiated

#o/o

LO0PA

Formal Complaints
received

s

Total number of formal complaints and Registra/s lnvestigations**

;tatistical dataiscollectedinaccordancewiththerecommendedmethodortheCollege'sownmethod: Cliocscenitel"lr
lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (Clvl)

CM 5. Distribution of formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigations bytheme inCY 2O22

Themes

t.

il.

ilt.

tv.

vt.

vil.

vilt.

tx.

X.

xt.

Advertising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead includlng Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

Unauthorized Practice

Qther <pleose specit'y>

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

59lPage



508

Additiondl comments for clarification (if needed)

Formal Comolaints
NR

Resistra/s lnvestieation

**The requested statistical informotion (number ond distribution by theme) recognizes thot formal complaints ond Registro/s Investigdtions moy
include allegotions thot fdll under multiple themes identified obove, therefore when odded together the numbers set out per theme moy not equol

the total number of formol comoloints or Reoistra/s lnvestiaotions.

60lPage



509
Table 5 - Context Measures 5, 7, 8 and 9

Whot does this informotion tell us? The informotion helps the
public better understond how formol complaints filed with the

College and Registror's lnvestigotions ore disposed of or
resolved. Furthermore, it provides tronsporency on key sources

of concern thot ore being brought forword to the College's

lnquiries, Comploints and Reports Committee.

#

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: Chccse an ite m.

lf a College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Conten Measure {CM)

CM 5. Total number of formal complaints that were brought forward to the ICRC in CY 2022

CM 7. Total number of ICRC matters brought forward as a result of a Registra/s lnvestigation in CY 2022

CM8. Total number of requests or notifications for appointment ofan investigatorthrough a Registrar's

lnvestigation brought forward to the ICRC that were approved in CY 2022

CM 9. Ofthe formal complaints and Registrar's lnvestigatbns received in CY 2022**

Formal complaints that proceeded to Alternative D'rpute Resolution (ADR)

Formal complaints that were resolved through ADR

Formal complaints that were disposed of by ICRC

Formal complaints that proceeded to ICRC and are still pending

Formal complaints withdrawn by Registrar at the request of a complainant

Formal complaints that are disposed of by the ICRC as frivolous and vexatious

il"

ilt.

lv.

vt.

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

61 | P age



510

ADR

Disoosal

Formal Comolaints
Formal Comolaints withd rawn bv Resistrar at the reouest of a comolainant
NR

Reqistrar's lnvestiqation

# Moy relate to Registro/s lnvestigotions thot were broughtto the ICRC in the previous yeor.

disposes of as frivolous ond vexdtious and o referrol to the Discipline Committee will olso be counted in totol number of compldints disposed of by the ICRC.

Additionol comments for clorification (if needed)

vil. Formal complaints and Registra/s lnvestigations that are disposed of by the ICRC as a referral to the

Discipline Committee

62lPage



511
Table 6 - Context Measure 10

Advertising

Billing and Fees

Communication

Competence / Patient Care

lntent to Mislead lncluding Fraud

Professional Conduct & Behaviour

Record Keeping

Sexual Abuse

Harassment / Boundary Violations

t.

il.

il1.

tv.

vt.

vil.

vilt.

tx.

Takes any other action it
considers appropriate that is

not inconsistent with its
governing legislation,
regulations, or by-laws.

Refers specified

allegations to the

Discipline

Committee

Agrees to
undertaking

Orders a specified

continuing education or

remediation program

lssues a

caution (oral

or written)

Proves advice or
recommendations

action
Take no

# of ICRC Decislons++

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: C[ccs* an ;t*rn.

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rdtionole for its use:

context Measure (cMl

CM 10. Total number of ICRC decisions in 2022

Distribution of ICRC decisions by theme in 2022*

Nature of Decision

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

63lFage



512
X,

XI,

Unauthorized Practice

Other <pleose specify>

or Registrar investigation ond could focilitote a diologue with the public obout the approprioteness of on outcome related to o porticulor formal comploint.

Additionol comments for clorificotion (if needed)

obove, therefore when odded together the numbers set out per theme may not equol the total number of formol comploints or registrd/s investigotions, or decisions.

NB

64lPage



513
Table 7 - Context Measure 11

f*

Whot does this informotion tell us? This informdtion illustrotes the moximum length of time in which 9 out of 10 formol
compldints or Registrar's investigotions ore being disposed by the College.

The informotion enhances tronsporency about the timeliness with which o College disposes of formol comploints or
Registrdr's investigotions. As such, the informotim provides the public, ministry, ond other stakeholders with information
regording the approximote timelines they can eqect Jor the disposal of a formal compldint filed with, or Registror's

investigotion undertoken by, the College,

Days

Disposal

Addition0l camments for clorifimtion (if needed)

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College own method: Chcoso s'1 itorn

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

Context Measure (CMl

CM 11. gOth Percentile disposal of:

L A formal complaint in working days inCY 2OZZ

ll. A Registra/s investigation in working days in CY 2022

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

65lPage



514
Table 8 - Context Measure 12

It

What does this informotion tell us? This informotion illustrotes the moximum length of time in which 9

out of 1-0 uncontested discipline keorings ond 9 out of 10 contested discipline heorings are being

disposed.

The informotion enhances transporency obout the timeliness with which a discipline heoring

undertaken by a College is concluded. As such, the informotion provides the public, ministry, and other
stokeholders with informotion regarding the approximote timelines they can expect for the resolution

of o discipline proceedinq undertoken by the Colleqe.

Days

Statistical data collected in accorda nce with the reco mmended method or the College's own method: Chcl:e il n ite n,1.

lf o College method is used, pleose specify the rdtiondle fot its use:

ContextMeasure (CM)

CM 12. 90th Percentile disposal of:

l. An uncontested discipline hearing in working days in CY 2022

ll. A contested discipline hearing in working daysin CY 2022

Disoosal
Uncontested Discipline Hearins
Contested Discioline Hearins

Additianal comments t'or clarification (if needed)

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

66lPage



515
Table 9 - Context Measure 13

Whot does this informdtion tell us? This informotion facilitates tronsporency to the public, registronts

dnd the ministry regarding the most prevolent discipline findings where o formal comploint or
Registror's lnvestigotion is.eferred to the Discipline Committee by the ICRC.

#

Conte)c Measur€ (CMl

CM 13. Distribution of Discipline finding by type*

Type

l. Sexual abuse

ll. lncompetence

lll. Fail to maintain Standard

lV. lmproper use of a controlled act

V. Conduct unbecoming

Vl. Dishonourable,disgraceful, unprofessional

Vll. Offence conviction

Vlll. Contravenecertificaterestrictions

lX. Findingsinanotherjurisdiction

X. Breach oforders and/or undertaking

Xl. Falsifying records

Xll. False or misleading document

Xlll. ContravenerelevantActs

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College's own method: Choose en iterr

lf College method is used, pleose specify the rotionole for its use:

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

67 | F age



516

number of discipline coses.

A'R

Additianal comments for clorificotion (if needed)

68lPage



517
Table 10 - Context Measure 14

What does this informotion tell us? This informdtion will help strengthen tronsporency on the type of
actions tdken to protect the public through decisions rendered by the Discipline Committee. lt is importont
to note thot no conclusions can be drown on the opproprioteness of the discipline decisions without
knowing intimote detoils of eoch case including the rotionale behind the decision.

#

lV. Reprimand

V. Undertaking

not equol the total number of discipline coses.

Revocation
Suspension

Terms, Conditions and Limitations
ReDrimand

Undertaki ns
NR

Additianal comments for clorificqtion {if needed)

Statistical data collected in accordance with the recommended method orthe College own method: Chcose an ilem

lf o College method is used, pleose specifu the rotionole for its use:

Context Measur€ (CM)

CM 14. Distribution of Discipline orders by type*

Type

l. Revocation

ll. Suspension

lll. Terms, Conditions and Limitations on a Certificate of Registration

DOMAIN 6: SUITABILITY TO PRACTICE

STANDARD 12

69lPage



518

Glossary

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR): Means mediation, conciliation, negotiation, or any other means of facilitating the resolution of issues in dispute.

Return toi_Iab!e.5

Contested Discipline Hearing: ln a contested hearing, the College and registrant disagree on some or all of the allegations, penalty and/or costs.

Return to: Iablgg

both liability and penalty decisions, where relevant).

Return to: Table 5, Table 7, Table 8

complaint inquiries and other interactions with the College that do not result in a formally submitted complaint.

Return to: Table 4, Table 5

request of the complainant, where the Registrar believed that the withdrawal was in the public interest.

Return to: Eblgs

NR: Non-reportable: Results are not shown due to < 5 cases (for both # and %). This may include 0 reported cases.

Return to:TaulgL Table 2. Table 3, Table 4, Table 5. Table 6. Table 9. Table 10

must inform the ICRC of the appointment within five days.

T0lFage



519

Return to: Table 4, Table 5

certificate which terminates the registrant's registration with the College and therefore their ability to practice the profession.

Return to: Table 10

Suspension: A suspension of a registrant's Certificate of Registration occurs for a set period of time during which the registrant is not permitted to:

. Hold themselves out as a person qualified to practice the profession in Ontario, including using restricted titles (e.g., doctor, nurse),

. Practice the profession in Ontario, or

. Perform controlled acts restricted to the profession underthe Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

Return to: Iablglq

Reprimand: A reprimand is where a registrant is required to attend publicly before a discipline panel of the College to hear the concerns that the panel has with their practice.

Return to: Table 10

website.

Return to: Eblglq

College and the respondent may make a joint submission on penalty and costs or the College may make submissions which are uncontested by the Respondent.

Return to:Iab!C..rg

Undertaking: ls a written promise from a registrant that they will carry out certain activities or meet specified conditions requested by the College committee.

Return to:14[!glQ

71 | P age



January 2023

Technica I Specifications for Quantitative

Col lege Performance Measurement

Framework Measures

January 2023

520

tOntario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES



January 2423

Table of Contents: Context Measures

lntroduction ..

Table 1: The College responds to 90% of inquiries from the public within 5 business

days, with follow-up timelines as necessary

Table 3: Context Measure - the total number of registrants who participated in QA

Program in CY 2022

Table 4: Context Measure - the rate of registrants who were referred to the QA

Committee as part of the QA Program in CY 2022 where the QA Committee

directed the registra nt to u nderta ke remediation.................

Table 5: Context Measure - the rate of registrants who were directed to undertake

remediation by the QA Committee that demonstrated required knowledge, skills,

and judgment following remediation

Table 5: Context Measure - the rate of registrants who were directed to undertake

remediation by the QA Committee that are still undertaking remediation ................

Table 7: Context Measure - the distribution of formal complaints and Registrar's

lnvestigations by theme in CY 2022...

Table 8: Context Measure - the total number of formal complaints that were

brought forward to the ICRC during the reporting period in CY 2022

Table 9: Context Measure - the total number of ICRC matters brought forward as a

result of a Registrar's lnvestigation in CY 2022...

Table 10: Context Measure - the total number of requests or notifications for
appointment of an investigator through a Registrar's lnvestigation brought forward

to the ICRC that were approved in reporting period in CY 2022

Table 11: Context Measure - of the formal complaints that were disposed of in CY

2022lhe rate that proceeded to Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)..............

Table 12: Context Measure - of the formal complaints that were disposed of in CY

2O22lhe rate that were resolved through Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)..,..

Table 13: Context Measure - total number of formal complaints that were

disposed of by the ICRC in CY 2022

Table 14: Context Measure -the rate of formal complaints that proceeded to ICRC

and are still pending inCY 2022

Table 15: Context Measure - of the formal complaints that were withdrawn of in
CY 2022 the rate that were withdrawn by the Registrar at the request of a

521

4

9

.1L

.13

.15

.19

.2r

.22

.24

.26

.28

.30

.32

2

complainant

Ontario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES



Table 16: Context Measure - of the formal complaints that were disposed of in CY

2O22lhe rate that are disposed of by the ICRC as frivolous and vexatious.........".,..,

Table 17: Context Measure - Rate of formal complaints and Registrar's

lnvestigations that were disposed of in CY 2022lhal are disposed of by the ICRC as

a referral to the Discipline Committee..........

Table 18: Context Measure - the distribution of ICRC decisions by theme in CY

2022...........

Table 19: Context Measure - the 90th percentile disposal of a formal complaint in

working days in CY 2022

Table 20: Context Measure - the gOth percentile disposal of a Registrar's

lnvestigation in working days in CY 2022

Table 21: Context Measure - the 90th percentile disposal of an uncontested

discipline hearing in working days in CY 2022..

Table22: Context Measure - the 90th percentile disposal of a contested discipline

hearing in working days in CY 2022

Table 23: Context Measure - the distribution of discipline findings by theme in CY

2022

Table 24: Context Measure - the distribution of discipline orders by type in CY

2022...........

Glossary......

January 2023

34

............36

...38

...42

..44

........46

.47

48

52

54

522

3Ontario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES



Janua ry.2023

lntroduction 523

This document serves as a companion document to the College Performance Measurement

Framework (CPMF) Reporting Tool. lt is designed to provide Ontario's health regulatory
Colleges (Colleges) with recommended methods for calculating the quantitative measures that
form part of the CPMF.

Data may not be readily available for each College to calculate the quantitative measures in the
recommended manner (e.g., due to differences in definitions). Where this is the case, a College

can report the information in a manner that is consistent with their data infrastructure and

availability.

lf a College does use a different method, for transparency purposes it should:

. lndicate in the CPMF Reporting Tool that it is using its own method so that the ministry
can understand how the College calculated the information provided.

o Provide a brief rationale for why it is using its own method.

4Ontario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES



January 2023

Table 1: The College responds to 90% of inquiries from the

public within 5 business days, with follow-up timelines as

necessary.

Suitability to Practice Domain > Standard l-2: The complaints process is accessible and

supportive.

524

5

Description

lndicates whether the College provides an individualized response to 90%

of inquiries from the public within 5 business days and provides timelines

for follow up where necessary.

Calculation

Method
N u merator/Denominator

Numerator
Number of responses provided to the initial public inquiry (including

expected timeline for follow-up) within 5 business days.

Denominator
All inquiries from the public related to the College's complaints process

received within the reporting period.

Exclusions

r lnquiries from anyone other than the "public" as defined below.

o lnquires not related to the complaints process.

o Calls to file a complaint or lnquiries about a complaint that has been

filed with the College.

Reporting period January t, 2122to December 3L, 2022

Data source Local data collection by the College

Public

lnquirv

Response

Method of Receipt

Definitions

Measure 12.1,

Evidence b

The €ollege responds 6 9A% of inquiries from the public within 5

business days, with follow-up timelines as necessary.

Ontario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES



January 2023

Table 2: Context Measure - the type and distribution of aA/qt
activities or assessments used in CY 2022r

Suitability to Practice Domain > Standard LL: The College ensures the continued competence

of all active registrants through its Quality Assurance processes. This includes an assessment of
their competency, professionalism, ethical practice, and quality of care.

Registrants may be undergoing multiple QA activities over the course of the reporting period. While future
iterations of the CPMF may evolve to capture the different permutations of pathways registrants may undergo
as part of a College's Qfl Program, the requested contextual information recognizes the current limitations in
data availability today and is therefore limited to type and distribution of QA/QI activities or assessments used
in the reporting period.

525

5

Description

The type of QA and Ql activities and assessments that the College uses to

assess a registrant's ongoing competence and support registrants in

maintaining competence, and the distribution of the activities and

assessments used (e.g., CPD portfolio review/audit, practice site

visit/inspection, patient chart audit/chart-simulated recall, examination,

multi-source feedback/360-degree reviews, clinical simulation or objective

structured clinical examination, direct observation in practice, etc.).

Ca lculation

Method

This Measure captures two separate calculations:

1. Distribution of aA/al activities or assessments

i. Report the distinct types of activities or assessments used by the

College.

ii. Calculate the number activities or assessments undertaken across

each type of activity or assessment.

Note:

- Where the number in a given type of aA/al activity or assessment is

between 1 and 5, report in CPMF Reporting Tool as "NR"

- Where no registrant underwent a particular type of QA/QI activity or

assessment, report in CPMF Reporting Tool as "0".

Context
Measure #1

Type and distribution of QA/QI activities and assessments used in CY2022

Ontario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES



January 2023

526

Exclusions

Remedial activities required of registrants outside of the College's Qfl
program (e.g., remediation ordered by a Panel of the ICRC).

QA and Ql activities undertaken by inactive or non-practising

registra nts.

All QA activities or assessments undertaken by active registrants of a

College outside of the QA Program.

a

a

a

lnclusion

All QA activities or assessments undertaken by active registrants of a

College as part of the QA Program.

All Ql activities or assessment undertaken by active registrants of a

College.

a

a

Reporting period January t, 2022 to December 31,, 2022

Data source Local data collection by the College

Definitions
QA activiW and assessment

Ql activiW and assessment

lnactive or non-practicing registrants

Context
Measure #1

Type and distribution of QA/QI activities and assessments used in CY2022

7Ontario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES



January 2023

Table 3: Context Measure - the total number of registrants who

participated in QA Program in CY 2022 527

Suitability to Practice Domain > Standard 11: The College ensures the continued competence of

all active registrants through its Quality Assurance processes. This includes an assessment of
their competency, professionalism, ethical practice, and quality of care

8

Description
The total number of registrants that participated in an activity or

assessment as part of the Quality Assurance Program.

Ca lculation

Method

The total number of registrants that underwent at least one activity or

assessment as part of the QA Program within the reporting period.

Exclusions

All inactive or non-practicing registrants who underwent QA activities

or assessment.

All Ql activities or assessment undertaken by active registrants of a

College.

All QA activities or assessments undertaken by active registrants of a

College outside of the of the QA Program.

a

a

a

lnclusion
Registrants who initiated a QA activity or assessment within the

reporting period.

a

January 1,, 2022 to December 31,, 2022Reporting period

Data source Local data collection by the College

Definitions

QA activitv and assessment

Ql activiW and assessment

lnactive or non-practicing registra nts

Context

Measure #2
Total number of registrants who participated in the QA Program in CY 2022

Ontario Ministry of Health - FOR GUIDANCE PURPOSES
























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































	cover page.pdf
	Duties and Objects of Colleges
	17mission, vision, values and  objectives.pdf
	CCO Code of Conduct
	Rules of Order of the Council
	List of Commonly Used Acronyms at CCO
	AGENDA
	1.1 Discipline Committee Report
	1.1.1 Decision and Reasons on Recusal Motion by Dr. Moore (received November 15, 2022)
	1.1.2 Endorsement of Mr. Justice H.K.O’Connell dated December 9, 2022 dismissing motion for interlocutory injunction by Dr.Moore
	1.2 Fitness to Practise Committee Report
	1.3 Inquiries, Complaints, and Reports Committee (ICRC)Report
	1.3.1 Terry and Jessica Lemaire and Wade Rafaez (received November 28, 2022) (ICRC decision returned)
	1.3.2 Martin Gurvey and Ibrahim Asadullah (received December 6, 2022) (ICRC decision upheld primarily)
	1.3.3 Shannel Pearson and Chris Triantafilou (received January 31, 2023) (ICRC decision upheld)
	1.3.4 Shannel Pearson and Guy Pelletier (received January 31, 2023) (ICRC decision upheld)
	1.4 Advertising Committee Report
	4.1 Executive Committee Report
	4.1.30 Thank you letter dated January 11, 2023 to Ms Willson from Dr. Karima Velji re: CPMF Working group
	4.1.31 CCO’s CPMF Action Plan approved June 22, 2022 (version date October 11, 2022)
	4.1.32 Key Performance Indicators dated November 21, 2021
	4.1.33 DEI Plan (approved April 20, 2022)
	4.1.34 The Nursing and Midwifery Council edi objectives, priorities and actions 2022 - 2025
	4.1.35 Communication exchange dated December 2022 between Ministry and HPRO re: CPMF
	4.1.36 Formal launch of the 3rd iteration of the CPMF dated January 12, 2023 including reporting tool
	4.1.37 News Release dated January 16, 2023 entitled “Ontario Reducing Wait Times for Surgeries and Procedures
	4.1.38 Sample Media re: private clinics announcement
	4.1.39 News Release dated February 2, 2023 entitled “Your Health: APlan for Connected and Convenient Care” including report
	4.1.40 Announcement dated October 2022 entitled “Patients the focus of new health legislation”
	4.1.41 Sample Media re: BC announcement
	4.1.43 COVID-19 Protocols for In-Person/Hybrid Council and Committee Meetings (amended November 24, 2022)
	4.1.44 Distribution of Election Documents January 26, 2023
	4.1.45 Information re: Election Review Sub-Committee including election checklists
	4.1.47 Notation re: communications to CCO
	4.1.51 E-mail dated November 24, 2022 re: Advocacy Day Documents
	4.1.52 Correspondence dated November 24, 2022, re: University of Guelph Partnership
	4.2 Patient Relations Committee Report
	4.2.2 S-014: Prohibition of a Sexual Relationship with a Patient (current)
	4.3 Quality Assurance Committee Report
	4.3.2 G-014: Delegation, Assignment and Referral of Care (current)
	4.3.4 Agenda and Photo of Peer and Practice Assessment Training Workshop – January 28, 2023
	4.4 Registration Committee Report
	4.4.1 Memo dated December 14, 2022 re: Registration Regulations from Dr. Karima Velji to Registrars and Executive Directors
	4.4.4 P – 058: Policy on Considering Applications for Registration During the COVID-19 Pandemic
	4.4.5 News Release dated January 19,2023 entitled “New “As of Right”Rules a First in Canada to Attract More Health Care Workers to Ontario” and input/questions from HPRO
	4.4.6 Notification dated November 24, 2022 re: Articles – OSCE cancellation - consequences
	4.4.7 OFC Newsletter dated January 2023
	5.1 Ontario Consultation: Veterinarians Act of Ontario
	5.2 Various communications from the Ontario Chiropractic Association (September 7, 2022, December 23, 2022, January 19, 2022
	5.3 S-009: Chiropractic Care of Animals
	5.4 By-law 17: Public Register
	5.5 Information asked on CCO Registration Renewal (question 4 –animal chiropractic)
	5.6 Summary of Public Register Inclusion of chiropractic Care of Animals and Other Techniques and Modalities byCanadian Chiropractic Regulators and Selected Ontario Health Regulators
	5.7 Extract from Veterinarians Act re:Register
	6.1 Various media re: expanded scope for pharmacists
	6.2 Correspondence dated October 24, 2022 re: ABA & Dual Registration from Dr. Rick Morris
	6.3 Chiropractic & Manual Therapies (2023) 31:4 “A two-year follow-up:Twitter activity regarding misinformation about spinal manipulation, chiropractic care and boosting immunity during the COVIDD-19 pandemic”
	6.4 Grey Areas (November 2022 and January 2023)
	6.5 Council Members Terms (dated April 20, 2022



